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 Net retail revenue up 41% y-o-y to 68,131 million roubles

 Like-for-like sales up 11%   

 Gross margin 25%

 EBITDA margin 5%

 157 stores in 64 cities as of 31.12. 2008

 37 stores opened in 2008

 Total store area 416,500 sq m;  total sales area 310, 000 sq m as of 31.12. 2008

2008 Performance 
Highlights
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Statement from Chairman and CEO

Peter Györffy

Statement  
from Chairman  
and CEO

 2008 was a year of sustainable 
growth for M.video
Our revenues, gross margin, EBITDA and net profit all grew 
significantly from 2007. We were able to achieve this as 
a result of double-digit like-for-like sales growth and by 
opening 37 new stores.

We are clearly demonstrating that we have a powerful 
business model and  high brand awareness and loyalty 
amongst customers.  This allowed us to become the fast-
est growing consumer electronic retail network in Russia 
and proved a virtue of our corporate strategy and values.

In the previous years the Russian consumer electronics 
market was growing ahead of expectations and M.video 
was well positioned to capitalise on that. Our timely and 
successful IPO in November 2007 raised over USD 200 
million which we used to support the expansion of our 
successful store format.  

In addition, we focused on developing our supply chain 
management systems, increasing our inventory turnover 
and improving logistics as well as building strong net 
debt financial position.

Now M.video is challenged to continue delivering against 
its strategy and improve its overall market position. Mak-
ing progress in a turbulent economic environment is al-
ways rewarded.  Apart from a declining market M.video 
continues to grow organically and gain market share in 
those cities where we operate. We see a lot of opportu-
nities for the future to strengthen M.video’s competitive 
position.

It was also quite a significant achievement for us in 2008 
to continue to open stores while decreasing our overall 
debt position. Our strong balance sheet and low lever-
age sends a very good signal to our employees, suppliers, 
customers and investors.

We are confident that M.video can continue to exploit 
the excellent conditions offered by the Russian market 
and our customers’ aspirations to own or upgrade con-
sumer electronics for their homes and their lives. We 
have a best-in-class management team, energetic and 
knowledgeable employees who are focused on custom-
ers’ needs and on ensuring that they have a memorable 
experience every time they visit our stores. 

Finally, we would like to thank everyone for their support 
in 2008 , and we look forward to continuing success in 
2009.

Peter Györffy,
Chairman of the Board  
of Directors

Alexander Tynkovan 
Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Tynkovan
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Company Philosophy & Company Background

Company Background

Company Philosophy

Vision
M.video is the best place to shop for consumer electronics 
in Russia.

Mission
To build up an efficient consumer electronics business in 
Russia:

  to make high-quality consumer electronics goods avail-
able to consumers with high quality service;

  to ensure career opportunities for company employ-
ees;

  to achieve positive growth in company operations and 
profitability.

Strategy
Our primary business objective is to increase shareholder 
value through increased revenue and operating margins 
and, by focusing on our competitive strengths, to increase 
our market share in Russia by becoming the number 1 re-
tailer in the cities where we operate. In order to achieve 
these objectives, we are implementing a strategy that in-
cludes the following key elements:

  Increasing market share based on our successful for-
mat

  Enhancing our key brand advantages

  Focus on profitability

M.video is a leading consumer electronics and home ap-
pliance retailer in the Russian Federation. We opened our 
first retail store in the centre of Moscow in 1993 and as of 
31.12.2008 we operate 157 stores in 64 cities in select-
ed regions of Russia. We also operate two online internet 
stores and are engaged in wholesale sales of consumer 
electronics and home appliances to other retailers.

M.video offers its customers approximately 20,000 SKUs 
of audio/video, digital, small and large home appliances, 
media and entertainment products as well as accesso-

ries. We sell brand name products as well as some exclu-
sive and own label goods. M.video generally operates its 
stores under a uniform format and a specially designed 
store concept to provide customers with approximately 
2,000 square meters of easy-to-navigate shopping space 
that also offers information about products and upcom-
ing trends.
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Company Philosophy & Company Background

M.video locations

2008 number of stores City

39 Moscow 

16 st.Petersburg 

5 Yekaterinburg, nizhniY novgorod 

4 chelYabinsk, rostov on don, kazan

3 novosibirsk, saMara, voronezh

2 krasnodar, liPetsk, PerM, rYazan, saratov, stavroPol, tYuMen 

1

adYgeYa alMetYevsk, arkhangelsk, arMavir, astrakhan, barnaul, brYansk, ivanovo,  
izhevsk, keMerovo, khantY-MansiYsk, kostroMa, krasnoYarsk, kurgan, kursk, Mag-
nitogorsk, naberezhnYe chelnY, nalchik, nefteYugansk, nizhnekaMsk, nizhnevartovsk,  
nizhniY tagil, novokuznetsk, novorossiYsk, oMsk, orel, orenburg, orsk, Penza, Pskov, 
salavat, sochi, starY oskol, sterlitaMak, surgut, taganrog, taMbov, tolYatti, toMsk, 
ufa, vladiMir, volgodonsk, volgograd, vologda, volzhskiY, Yaroslavl, Yoshkar-ola, 
zheleznogorsk

totAL stores 157 totAL Cities  64
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A Vibrant World  
of Electronics

Delivering with  
our Corporate Strategy
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When we enter a new city for the first time, we advertise 
our presence through printed flyers and billboard adver-
tising.  When we open a second store in the same loca-
tion, we can benefit from existing billboards. And as our 
TV spots are shown on federal TV, our brand is already 
present from coast to coast, wherever we may choose to 
open a store.

Innovation
The consumer electronics industry is developing rap-
idly, heralding the arrival of a host of new technologies. 
M.video has always monitored trends in the industry and 
is the first to offer its customers access to innovative prod-
ucts. 

In 2008, M.video was the first Russian consumer elec-
tronics retail chain to start sales of the revolutionary 
Apple Macbook Air, the slimmest laptop solution deliv-
ered by Apple Computers Inc. All in all, in 2008 M.video 
demonstrated record-breaking sales growth of laptops in 
the Russian market by 132% as compared to the previous 
year.

We also widely launched Blue Ray DVD players for the 
mass market, compact GPS devices, game consoles and 
actively promoted new Apple iPhone 3G devices in our 
stores in 2008. M.video offered the largest choice of 
products in these categories and ran special promotional 
campaigns.

In 2008 we were awarded with a prestigious national 
“Sales Business Award” in a “Consumer Electronics” cat-
egory.

2008 was a successful year for M.video, anchored by 
sales growth in our existing store network and supported 
by the execution of our expansion strategy. We aim to be 
the number one consumer electronics retailer in each city 
in which we operate.

We opened a total of 37 new stores in 2008: 6 in Moscow 
and its nearby suburbs, 3 in St Petersburg and 28 in the 
regions, including entering 16 new cities. 

Our proven model for expansion, based on our uniform 
store concept and an average store size of 2000 sqm of 
selling space works as follows:

We have three target groups: cities with a population of 
over 800,000; cities with 300,000 - 800,000 inhabitants 
and cities with 150,000 -300,000 residents. We look for 
high average disposable income, economic stability and 
high density of population and defined traffic zones. An-
other important factor is significant construction, either in 
new shopping malls or in residential developments.

Firstly, we select an appropriate location. We then fit out 
the store, install our IT systems and bring in the store 
manager 2 months before opening. This gives us 7 to 8 
weeks to deliver the matrix of inventory to the store and 
conduct staff training. All in all, the average time it takes 
us to open a store is 3-5 months, and we invest 55 million 
Roubles in each store on fixtures, lease agreements and 
other pre-opening costs.

Approximately 85% of our stores are in shopping malls; 
the remaining 15% are stand alone destinations. 

As we expand and open more stores in a specific city, this 
enables us to achieve more economies of scale with our 
logistics partners and makes it easier to stock each new 
store as it opens. 

Our advertising budget is split roughly equally between 
promotional flyers, federal TV advertising and billboards. 

Delivering with  
our Corporate Strategy
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increasing share 
of regional operations

 Moscow
 St. Petersburg 
 Other regions 

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

93%

7%

86%

14%

72%

17%

57%

31%

45%

41%

33%

53%

24%

66%

27%

62%

Competition
M.video competes with both national and regional retail-
ers across Russia as well as against niche specialist re-
tailers like IT stores and photographic stores. Due to our 
aggressive expansion programme in the Russian regions 
and our active marketing and promotional activities we 
have been able to win market share from local competi-
tors. We can demonstrate high growth rates in sales due 
to our superior sales technologies and high standards of 
customer service.  Indeed, our growth is faster than the 
niche retailers in the specialised segments.

M.video has always managed price erosion pro-actively. 
As we have good relations with our vendors, we can pre-
pare in advance to pass on price reductions to our cus-
tomers whilst maintaining our sales margins and growing 
our sales volumes. 

In 2008 we became the fastest growing consumer elec-
tronics retail chain: our full year sales (+41%) outper-
formed all major market players in Russia.

real estate structure, as of 31.12.08

 Owned
 Leased 

157

417

20 137

56 360

Number of stores

Total area, ‘000 sq m

Gross Margin Development 
The management of M.video focuses constantly on ways 
to increase gross margins. We target consumers who 
are prepared to spend more for quality, design and ser-
vice. We are currently leaders in the consumer electron-
ics market in terms of selling high-margin products. We 
know how to sell top of the range electronics and we 
have the highest levels of sales efficiency and average 
spend for our retail outlets.

This differentiation and focus on high-margin products 
and products with additional features brings us addi-
tional benefits with our vendors such as special delivery 
conditions and favourable purchasing prices. About 30% 
of our high value-added products are supplied under ex-
clusive vendor agreements with special terms.

It is also our strategy to increase the average price in 
each product category and move each product range 
step by step to a higher price point. 

Unlike most of our competitors, M.video maintains rela-
tively high gross margins by implementing a strategy of 
value-added sales. This strategy encompasses not only 
the sales of high value-added products, but also the sale 
of suitable accessories and consumables.
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Committing to Customers,  
Committing to our Staff
Our employees are part of our competitive advan-
tage. We place a premium on employee recruitment 
and training to build a strong, team-oriented company 
culture. We keep a watchful eye on the Russian labour 
market to ensure that our compensation packages are 
competitive.

People are at the heart of our business – and key to 
our success in opening new stores. As we started our 
regional expansion, we developed two internal training 
programmes for high flyers.

The four month “Aspirant” programme is targeted at de-
veloping future store managers. The programme gives 
them operational experience in all areas, and the man-
agement and leadership skills to run a store like an en-
trepreneur from day one. In addition, we are running a 
junior aspirant training programme to support the de-
velopment of staff who have the potential to become 
section managers in our stores.

Our corporate university provides on-going training for 
our staff. There is a wide range of courses to support 
personal and professional development. Moreover, our 
store personnel have product training twice a year, and 
have access to on-line training resources and self-guid-
ed training courses to keep their product knowledge up 
to date.

We believe that customer loyalty is key to our success. 
People want to visit M.video stores because they know 
they will get good advice about products and accesso-
ries, and can find out about new trends. Our staff will 
always be available to give advice or offer help about 
what additional items are necessary to ensure success-
ful installation at home. 

At M.video we are constantly looking for new ways to 
increase sales volumes. In 2008 we launched a new 
customers’ loyalty program called “M.video Bonus” and 
based on the innovative Oracle Siebel loyalty manage-
ment CRM-solution. The programme was designed us-
ing the worldwide best practice and encouraged our 
customers to collect and to spend bonus points while 
providing them with personalized shopping history, 
promo, special offers, information etc. The M.video Bo-
nus program was piloted in in our Moscow stores and 
then rolled out to other regions. For the first six months 
over 500,000 of our customers enjoyed the new loyalty 
management program; we estimate that each third cus-
tomer returned to our store to convert his bonus points 
into new purchases. 

In 2008, more than 20 million transactions were made 
in M.video stores. We estimate that about 25% of store 
visitors actually make a purchase.  The average transac-
tion value in 2008 was around 4,000 Roubles, including 
VAT @18%.

We are constantly striving to improve our customer ser-
vice and use many different resources to check indepen-
dently our service quality. We conduct regular “Mystery 
Shopper” surveys in all our stores across Russia using 

product Mix by sku

Audio / Video 1,400

Large Appliances 1,800

Small Appliances 700

IT 200

Telecom 450

Photo 150

Media 10,200

Accessories 5,100

ToTal 20,000
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an independent agency. This allows us to collect valu-
able data about product sales and the performance of 
our staff. Twice yearly we use the same questionnaire to 
benchmark ourselves against our peers in the Russian 
consumer electronics market.  This benchmarking is an 
invaluable management tool and enables us to tune our 
product offerings to match consumer demands.

Our customer offering is supported by a 24 hour call cen-
tre. Whether a product has been bought from M.video 
store or not, our consultants and technicians can assist 
consumers with advice on topics ranging from the loca-
tion and openings times of our stores to how to operate 
and install products.

Corporate  
Social Responsibility 
M.video runs a charitable foundation “Our Initiative” 
which makes donations to a number of different proj-
ects. Our contributions went up by 62% in 2008, in line 
with our philosophy to develop our Corporate Social Re-
sponsibility programme.

Our programmes are focused on the Russian regions and 
in 2008 we implemented charitable projects for the first 
time in such cities as Almyetyevsk, Kursk, Nalchik, Nov-
orossiysk, Novosibirsk, Orel, Omsk, Pskov, Sochi, Tagan-
rog, Volgodonsk and Zheleznogorsk.

We have always considered children a priority for our 
activities. We made donations to 319 institutions (com-
pared with 298 in 2007) to support child care, educa-
tional projects and medical care.

In 2008 we ran a special programme under “Our Ini-
tiative” charitable fund and supported by Russian Aid 
Foundation of the Kommersant newspaper and several 

medical care centers in the regions. The programme was 
designated to provide financing (of more than 4,7 mil-
lion rubles) for the surgery treatment of the child scolio-
sis. Under the programme 38 young patients had been 
operated. 

We continued our Veterans programme, which provides 
support for pensioners and veterans from the Great Pa-
triotic War. Typically, we distribute festive food packag-
es, white goods and offer financial support. 

In 2008 M.video also took part in the nationwide com-
petition on the Corporate Social Responsibility run by 
Russian Donators Forum and Ministry for Trade and Eco-
nomic Development of Russia. Our programme “Chil-
dren Outlook on Arts” was awarded with an official ap-
preciation from the Public Chamber under the President 
of Russia.
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Operational Review

A Vibrant World  
of Electronics
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Review 
M.video’s aggressive expansion strategy is supported by 
prudent financial management.

For all potential new store locations, we prepare a de-
tailed model to analyse the projected revenue, the cost 
structure and calculate the pay-back period and internal 
rate of return. We conduct a careful analysis of available 
leases on potential stores, and walk away if the price is 
not right, or the return is not sufficient.  As the right prem-
ises are critical to our success, we take a robust view of 
lease management to ensure continuity of operations 
whilst keeping tight control of costs.

At the end of 2006, we started reviewing our logistics op-
eration and embarked on a multi-year Supply Chain Man-
agement (SCM) project. SCM is about more than just the 
technical aspects of storing and moving our products, it 
is about demand planning, forecasting & replenishment 
and about having the right goods at the right place at the 
right time, therefore reducing inventory levels and out-of-
stock in the stores so that sales can be maximized. 

We manage an inventory of 20,000 items comprising 
5,000 core products, 5,000 accessories and 10,000 me-
dia and entertainment products. Within our uniform store 
concept, we can vary the sales area for different product 
groups according to local customer needs. 

On the financial side, we can continue to grow revenue 
in existing locations by focusing on sales of accessories 
which have higher gross margins. This has proved success-
ful in Moscow, where we have now been operating for 16 
years, and we believe this model will continue to apply as 
our stores outside Moscow mature.  In addition, as we in-
crease the number of stores in a single city, we are careful 
to manage locations and product selection so that there 
is little cannibalisation between M.video stores. Thus, as 
we add a second, third or fourth store in a particular city, 
we see the benefits of increased sales very quickly. 

We have good long term relationships with our vendors 
and suppliers and we currently offer over 100 brands. 
Thanks to our customer insight and industry  knowledge, 
we can react quickly to changes in consumer buying pat-
terns so that our stores always offer the most attractive 
range of goods.

We have now reached critical mass with our operations 
at headquarters in Moscow and do not expect staff num-
bers and thus total salaries to grow as fast as in previous 
years. In terms of employees in our stores, we are seeking 
to implement new technologies to make our staff more 
productive, and release them from administrative tasks so 
that they can concentrate more time on our customers on 
the sales floor.

 1 

Like-for-like (LfL) data is based upon a comparison of stores open at January 1, 2008 and not 
closed for more than two weeks or permanently, or expanded or downsized by >20% of total 
space

Operational  
Review

122 323 417157

nuMber of stores  
and growth in store area

 Number of stores (at end of period)
 Total space, `000 sq m

2007 2008
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Outlook 
In  2009, our focus will be on delivering sales results while 
keeping strong our financial position and opening new 
stores. We have committed to open up to 23 new stores 
in 2009. 

Our SCM project is progressing well, and we will continue 
to concentrate our efforts on bringing greater economies 
of scale and efficiency to the whole of our supply chain.  
The net benefits of the SCM project will be realised in 
future years as we will make significant development in-
vestments in the period 2009-2012.

After our people, the M.video brand is one of our stron-
gest assets. That is why we do not franchise stores, but 
keep direct control through our employees. In this way, we 
can ensure that we apply universal brand standards to all 
our stores, wherever they are located.  The M.video brand 
is underpinned by our corporate values; honesty, simplic-
ity, effectiveness and teamwork.  We expect all our staff to 
share these values and to focus 100% on our customers

Overall, M.video’s success is driven by the hard work and 
dedication of all our staff. We will continue to innovate 
and delight our customers in all our locations to ensure 
that they believe that M.video is the best place to shop for 
consumer electronics in Russia.

like-for-like1 revenue 
per store 2007-2008 rub Mln

 2007
 2008

Moscow St. Petersburg Other regions Internet Total average

474 527249 308573 625 412389 447 507

transactions, average ticket and like-for-like1 
revenue growth 2007-2008

 Number of transactions, %
 Average transaction amount, %

 Sales, %

Moscow St. Petersburg Other regions Internet Total average

1.2 8 9.2 -8.2 35 23.8 0.9 10 1113.32.1 115.811-4.5
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Financial  
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A Vibrant World  
of Electronics
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Financial 
Performance Review

Revenues
M.video generates revenues from the sale of goods through 
retail and wholesale channels.  Our revenues increased by 
37% to RUB 71.5 billion in 2008 compared with RUB 52.3 
billion in 2007.  Retail revenues comprised 95% of our to-
tal revenues for 2008 compared to 93% for 2007.

Retail sales, which are reported net of estimated custom-
er returns, rebates, discounts and VAT, increased 41% to 
RUB 68.1 billion in 2008 from RUB 48.4 billion in 2007. 
The retail revenue was driven by several key factors. First-
ly, the like-for-like store sales grew by 11 % compared 
to 2007, which mostly came from average ticket increase. 
Secondly, stores that were opened throughout 2007 were 
working full year in 2008. Finally, we added 37 new stores 
throughout 2008 in 16 cities of Russian Federation thus 
bringing total to 157 stores in the end of the year.

Wholesale sales decreased by 14% to RUB 3.4 billion in 
2008 compared to RUB 3.9 billion in 2007. Our strategy is 
to focus on long-term relationships with our wholesale cus-
tomers, rather than focusing on sales growth in this channel.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales increased by 33% to RUB 53.6 billion in 2008 
from RUB 40.4 billion in 2007. Cost of sales reflects move-
ments in inventory balances which include the actual cost 
of the products purchased from suppliers and any inbound 
customs duties, transportation and other incidental costs. 

Supplier bonuses almost doubled in 2008 to RUB 4.0 bil-
lion from RUB 2.2 billion in 2007 being driven by purchas-
ing volume increases that allowed M.video to leverage our 
strong position in relations with suppliers. 

Gross Profit
Gross profit increased by 49% to RUB 17.9 billion in 2008 
compared with RUB 12.0 billion in 2007.  Gross margin 
increased as a percent of revenue by 2.1% to 25.0% 
in 2008 comparing to 22.9% in 2007.  Strong margin 
growth was backed by the increasing sales volume and 
more effective management of supplier relations.  

in millions of Russian roubles 2008 2007 2006

Net revenue, incl. 71,486 52,317 36,258
Retail revenue 68,131 48,410 31,417
Gross profit 17,876 11,965 7,825
Gross margin 25.0% 22.9% 21.6%
Operating expenses 15,143 9,881 6,678
As % of net revenue 21.2% 18.9% 18.4%
Operating profit (EBIT) 2,733 2,084 1,147
EBIT margin, % 3.8% 4.0% 3.2%
EBITDA 3,596 2,607 1,446
EBITDA magrin 5.03% 4.98% 4%
Net profit 1,256 649 390
Net margin 1.8% 1.2% 1.1%

financial perforMance highlights, 2006-2008
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Selling, general 
and administrative expenses
Our selling, general and administrative expenses in-
creased by 50% to RUB 16.1 billion in 2008 from RUB 
10.7 billion in 2007 as a result of current year expansion. 
Operating expenses increased by 2.0% as percent of rev-
enue in 2008 compared to 2.1% in 2007 demonstrating 
slight reduction in growth rates.

The detailed account of individual cost increase is given 
below, however there is one significant common factor 
that accelerated expense growth in 2008. We have add-
ed 37 new stores and 16 new cities what resulted in ex-
pansion of the retail network by more than 28%. There is 
a direct relationship between expansion and operating 
expenses’ growth. We start incurring expenses in new lo-
cations before and during a store-opening, however af-
ter the opening it takes time for a store to get to mature 
sales levels. It creates a time lag between revenue and 
expense flows and leads to lower operational efficiency 
during active expansion period, which is generally up to 
six months. 

The following table sets out our most significant selling, gen-
eral and administrative expenses for the years ended 31 De-
cember 2008 and 2007 as a percentage of retail revenues:

In millions of RUB and as a % of Total Revenues

Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Payroll and related taxes 4,386 6.1% 3,058 5.8%

Lease expense 3,101 4.3% 1,940 3.7%

Advertising and promotional expenses 2,462 3.4% 1,646 3.1%

Transportation & warehouse services 2,171 3.0% 1,526 2.9%

Depreciation & amortization and impairment loss 863 1.2% 523 1.0%

Other1 3,088 4.3% 2,040 3.9%

ToTal 16,071 22.5% 10,733 20.5%

gross profit and gross Margin dynaMics

 Gross margin, %
 Gross profit, RUB bln

2007 2008

12.0

22.9

18.0

25.0

ebitda/ebitdar dynaMics

 EBITDA, RUB bln
 EBITDAR, RUB bln
 EBITDA margin

4.52.6 3.6 6.7

2007 2008

5,0 5,0

 1 

Other includes: utilities, security services, service centre, repairs and maintenance, bank charges, 
packaging and raw materials, consulting services, travel costs among others
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Payroll and related taxes increased in 2008 by 43% to 
RUB 4.4 billion from RUB 3.1 billion in 2007. Percent-
age growth if compared to 2007 can be explained by two 
factors.  Firstly, wage inflation of 17% is greater than the 
like-for-like growth of 11%.  Secondly, we employed more 
head office and regional staff to allow us to run distant 
locations. 

Lease expenses increased as a percentage of total rev-
enues between 2008 and 2007 to 4.3% from 3.7%. The 
growth was driven by several factors, among which were 
increase in existing rents due to foreign currency appreci-
ation, as part of agreements are dependent on exchange 
rates, annual indexation and higher rents of new stores as 
there was a high degree of competitiveness for new com-
mercial properties.  

Advertising and promotional expenses increased by 50% 
to RUB 2.5 billion in 2008 from RUB 1.6 billion in 2007. 
Accelerated growth was driven primarily by outdoor ad-
vertising and distribution of leaflets as a result of expan-
sion, and, as well, by TV advertising due to high media in-
flation in 2008.

Transportation & warehouse service costs increased by 
42% to RUB 2.2 billion in 2008 from RUB 1.5 billion in 
2007 due to the expansion of the retail network into 
more distant regions of Russia. Transportation of goods 
from central warehouse to stores in the regions is gener-
ally more expensive and depends on the distance from 
Moscow. Indexation of tariffs was also a factor that con-
tributed to the overall cost increase.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increases are a 
direct result of the capital expenditure on new stores and 
the deprecation of the two additional properties brought 
into the Group in 2008.

Other Operating Income
Other operating income increased to RUB 1,061 million 
in 2008 from RUB 994 million for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2007. Other operating income includes commis-
sions received from banks on consumer credits provided 
to our customers, income from home delivery of goods 
and other individually insignificant items.

Consumer credit commissions constitute substantial part 
of other operating income. Banks paid these commissions 
for gaining access to our customer base, thus allowing 
some profit sharing. However, by the year end as the credit 
market tightened this source of income suffered a decline 
due to the reduction in number of credits granted.

Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses decreased to RUB 133 million 
for 2008 from RUB 142 million for 2007. 

Operating Profit
Operating profit increased by 31% to RUB 2.7 billion in 
2008 from RUB 2.1 billion in 2007. As a percentage, the 
operating profit decreased to 3.8% in 2008 from 4.0 % 
in 2007 indicating that increase in costs due to regional 
expansion exceeded the improvement achieved in gross 
margin.
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Net Finance Costs
Net finance costs comprise interest on bank loans and 
deposits, interest on corporate bonds, exchange differ-
ence from foreign currency borrowings and the impact of 
a change in the fair value of forward exchange contracts.  
Our net financing expenses decreased in total by 57.0% 
to RUB 365 million in 2008 from RUB 848 million in 
2007. The positive change was driven primarily by inter-
est income earned on deposits, reduction in coupon yield 
due to redemption of bonds and net income earned on 
revaluation of forward contracts.

Effective foreign exchange policy allowed us to complete-
ly mitigate losses incurred on revaluation of loans and 
borrowings and provided additional income.

Income Tax Expense
Our income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 
2008 and the year ended 31 December 2007 is shown in 
the following table:

Our principal tax liability is Russian corporation tax. The ef-
fective tax rate for 2008 was 47.0% compared to the Rus-
sian corporate income tax rate of 24.0%. In addition to the 
corporate income taxes, the Group had non-deductible ex-
penses and adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities 
due to reduction in tax rate which added 19.0% and 4.0% 

In millions of RUB

Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Current tax expense (1,358) (908)
Deferred tax benefit 246 321

ToTal income Tax expense (1,112) (587)

respectively. The Russian taxation code has decreased as 
of 01.01.2009 the corporate income tax rate to 20% from 
24%. We consider it prudent to make these adjustments to 
income tax as deferred tax assets and liabilities are going to 
be released or settled in 2009 using tax rate of 20%. 

The deferred income tax benefits generally arise due to 
provisions and accrued expenses which, for tax purposes, 
will only be deductible when and if the invoices are re-
ceived or the inventory is sold.

Net Profit for the year
Net profit for the year increased by 94% to RUB 1,256 
million in 2008 from RUB 649 million in 2007. Effective 
cash and risk management allowed us to translate 31% 
increase in operating profit into 94% increase on the bot-
tom line. 

Substantial reduction in finance costs was achieved due 
to significant improvements in working capital, which 
gave room for optimization of debt levels. 
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Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Operating cash-flows 4,146 2,893
Movements in working capital, income tax and interest payments (44) (1,430)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,102 1,463
Net cash used in investing activities (2,562) (2,740)
Net cash generated from financing activities 1,347 2,725
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,887 1,448

Investing
Net cash used in investing activities was RUB 2.6 billion for 
2008. Cash amounts used to make leasehold improvements, 
purchase property, trade equipment and other equipment 
were RUB 838, 694, 220 and 518 million correspondingly. 

These cash purchases were necessary to support the expan-
sion of the retail network. Remaining investing cash flow 
included changes in short-term investments, purchases of 
intangible assets and interest received from deposits.

Financing
Net cash from financing activities was RUB 1.3 billion in 
2008 compared with RUB 2.7 billion in 2007. The cash 
from financing activities was primarily generated from bor-
rowings in the amount of RUB 21.3 billion and RUB 33.1 
billion respectively. During the year ended 31 December 
2007, cash from financing activities was also generated 
from proceeds from the issue of equity shares in the amount 
of RUB 4.9 billion. Cash was used to repay borrowings in the 
amount of RUB 20.0 billion and RUB 35.3 billion respec-
tively. Diminishing volumes of borrowing demonstrate the 
decreasing reliance of the Group on external short-term fi-
nancing. The cash from financing activities was needed to 
fund the further expansion of the retail network. 

Operating
The Group was able to generate cash from its operating 
activities by managing supplier relationships better and 
thereby achieving substantial improvement in operating 
cash flow.  

Operating cash flow improved by RUB 1.3 billion to RUB 
4.1 billion in 2008 as a result of overall improvement in 
performance.

Working capital strengthened considerably compared to 
the previous year on the back of improvement in trade ac-
counts payable and other payables and accrued expenses. 
M.video worked with suppliers to ensure that trade ac-
counts payable was greater than or equal to the inventory 
levels for each supplier. As a result of this work in 2008 
Accounts Payable exceeded Inventory by RUB 763 million 
vs (1 billion) for 2007. Changes in other payables and ac-
crued expenses further improved working capital by RUB 
0.9 billion in 2008. Net of the change in inventories, the 
two items provided RUB 1.9 billion of cash in 2008 versus 
RUB 0.2 billion in 2007.

Cash-flows
The table below shows our net cash flows from operating, 
investing and financing activities for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2008 and the year ended 31 December 2007:
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Net Debt
M.video’s net debt, defined as long term debt + short term 
debt + Russian bonds + letters of credit less cash and short 
term investments, decreased from RUB 1.1 billon in 2007 
to RUB 0.5 billion in 2008. This reduction is due to the ef-
forts of the management to improve the operating cash 
flows and the working capital, while controlling the level of 
investing activities.   

The improvements in relations with our suppliers and oper-
ating cash flows are priorities for the management team.   

Assets & Liabilities
The financial situation of the Group has undergone fur-
ther improvement for the year ended 2008. The group’s 
net total asset position improved to RUB 8.0 billion RUB 
from RUB 6.6 billion in 2007 due to the operating results 
achieved in 2008.  The company has maintained its net 
current assets position of RUB 4.0 billion.

Long-term incentive 
program (“LTIP”)
In 2007 the Group adopted an LTIP program for selected 
members of the management team. The existing share-
holders put 1% of the pre-IPO shares into a separate com-
pany with the stated purpose of allocating these shares to 
selected management team members to secure their rela-
tionship with the company. Each year the Board of Direc-
tors approves the list of managers who will participate in 
the scheme. In 2008, 46 persons were accepted into the 
scheme. The share allocations from existing shares are 
non-dilutive. In 2008, the accounts make provision for a 
cost allocation of some RUB 87 million, but it should be 
noted that this is also shown in the Retained Earnings.    

net debt structure, rub Mln

 Short term investment
 Cash and cash equivalents
 Short term debt and bonds

 Long term deb 
 Letters of credit

31 Dec 2007

Net debt  
position 1,140

Net debt 
position 493

31 Dec 2008

-1,305

-2,380

2,683

2,127

-1,624

-5,448

3,943

508

3,114
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Board of Directors 
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1. Stuart Leighton 
Independent Board Member 

2. Christopher Parks 
Board Member,  
Chief Financial Officer

3. Alexander Tynkovan 
CEO/President

4. Peter Györffy 
Independent Board Member, 
Chairman of the Board  

5. Utho Creusen 
Independent Board Member

6. Ilpo Helander 
Independent Board Member

7. Mikhail Kuchment 
Non-executive Board Member 

8. David Hamid 
Independent Board Member 

9. Pavel Breev 
Board Member, Expansion 
Director 

From left to right1

 1 

Full byographies are avialable at 
www.mvideo.ru
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Board of Management
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Christopher Parks
Financial Director

Christopher Mangham 
IT Director

Maxim Zakhir
Marketing Director

Pavel Breev
Expansion Director

Alexander Tynkovan 
CEO / President

Irina Ivanova
Supply Chain Director

Enrique Fernandes
Commercial Director

Olga Vasiliskova
HR Director 

Janusz Lella
Retail Director
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Corporate  
Governance

M.video complies with the Russian Corporate Conduct 
Code and aspires to comply with the best international 
standards of corporate governance.  

M.video endeavours to disclose information about the 
Company and the Group as a whole in a timely and regu-
lar manner, ensuring that information is made available 
to all shareholders at the same time. M.video tries to 
observe a reasonable balance between openness and 
transparency and protection of commercial interests. The 
Company fully observes the legal requirements and list-
ing regulations of the Russian Stock Exchanges regarding 
public disclosure of information.  We disclose information 
in news releases, through the approved news wires and 
on the www.mvideo.ru web site.

Board of Directors 
We established an informal advisory council in 2003, 
many of whose members were elected to the Board of 
Directors of the Company at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting held on February 27, 2007.

M.video’s Board of Directors has nine members, five of 
whom are fully independent of the Company. Our Board 
members bring with them extensive experience of retail-
ing, consumer electronics and supply chain.

At 31 December 2008 the Board of Directors is chaired by 
Peter Györffy, an independent director.

At this date other Board members included: Mr. Alexan-
der Tynkovan, the Company’s founder and CEO, Mr. Pavel 
Breev, our Expansion Director and shareholder, Mr. Chris-
topher Parks, CFO and independent directors Mr. David 
Hamid, Mr. Ilpo Helander, Mr. Stuart Leighton and Mr. 
Utho Creusen as well as non-executive director, Mr. Mi-
chael Kuchment.

The Board of Directors, in accordance with the Russian 
Corporate Conduct Code and general best practice, ap-
pointed an Audit Committee and a Remuneration Com-
mittee in June 2007. These committees are chaired and 
filled by independent Board members.

Audit Committee  
Report
The Audit Committee consists of two independent direc-
tors and currently comprises Stuart Leighton, Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and Ilpo Helander, Deputy Chair-
man. The committee members served throughout the pe-
riod. In accordance with its terms the audit committee has 
sufficient recent relevant financial experience.

The Committee met five times during the year in March, 
April, June, October and December. Both independent 
members of the audit committee attended all meetings. 
Representatives of the external auditors, the Group Chief 
Financial Officer and the Group Financial Controller were 
invited to attend each meeting to ensure that the Com-
mittee members were fully informed and fully supported 
in carrying out their duties. The Head of Internal Audit was 
invited to several meetings during the year. Prior to the 
completion of the audit of the annual financial statements 
the Committee meets the external auditors in private.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee (and the 
Audit Committee has carried out during the year) the follow-
ing:

  Monitor the integrity of the financial statements and 
any formal announcements relating to the Company’s 
financial performance;

  Review critical accounting policies and financial report-
ing adjustments;



Corporate Governance

M. video
Annual Report 2008

31

Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee Report
The remit of the Remuneration Committee is to recom-
mend the remuneration policy to the Board of Directors, 
to prepare proposals for the Board for the remuneration 
of individual members of the management and to advise 
management on the level and structure of compensation 
for other senior personnel.

The role of the Remuneration Committee is described in 
its charter which is available on the Company’s website. 

On 31 December 2008 the Remuneration Committee 
consisted of Mr. David Hamid (Chairman), Mr. Utho Creus-
en and Mr. Peter Györffy. 

The Committee had five meetings in 2007/8. 

On its first meeting in March, 2008 the Remuneration 
Committee re-elected its Chairman and was pleased to 
welcome onto the committee Utho Creusen.  Utho has 
held many senior HR positions in major Western Europe-
an countries and brings a wealth of expertise and experi-
ence to the committee.

This year the economic crisis in both Russia and the world 
brought many challenges for us.  In many cases we were 
considering pay freezes or reductions in an environment 
where targets set at the start of the year had little rele-
vance to the performance available.  Despite this  we have 
endeavored to retain incentive and reward for a team that 
continues to outperform the market.  To this end a new 
LTIP scheme is under development and we look forward to 
introducing that later in 2009, focused on rewarding the 
creation of long term shareholder value

During the year we continued to strengthen the team 
adding two top caliber recruits to the executive team.  
Looking forward we now seek to introduce a better level 
of succession planning into the company at all levels

Overall I am pleased to report that the matter of remu-
neration policy is taken seriously by the board and that 
the committee, consisting entirely of independent direc-
tors, is functioning properly to look after the interests of 
all shareholders, using external benchmarks to set appro-
priate levels of remuneration.

David Hamid
Chairman of Renumeration Committee

  Review the integrity of the Group’s system of internal 
control and review the effectiveness of the Group’s in-
ternal audit function;

  Review and monitor the external auditors’ independence 
and objectivity, assess the effectiveness of the external 
audit process, approve the external auditors’ remunera-
tion and terms of engagement and make recommenda-
tions in respect of their appointment or removal;

  Review regularly the Group’s policy on the supply of 
non-audit services by the external auditors, to approve 
the qualifying services and the level of non-audit fees 
and to monitor services provided;

The full terms of reference of the Audit Committee are 
available on the corporate M.video corporate website.

Stuart Leighton
Chairman of Audit Committee
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Shareholder Information

share tickers

Exchange Bloomberg ticker Reuters ticker
MICEX MVID RM MVID MM
RTS MVID RU MVID RTS

share inforMation

Date of IPO (RTS/MICEX) 1.11.2007

Offer price USD 6.95
Capital raised for operations USD 203 million
Price 31.12.2008 USD 0.89
High/Low USD 8.80/USD 0.69
Market capitalisation USD 160 million as of December 31, 2008 
Shares outstanding 179768227
Free float 29.2%

international identification codes

Name Code
ISIN RU000A0JPGA0
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Registrar Information

Contacts

OJSC “Moscow Central  
Depositary” (“MCD”) 

34/8, Bolshaya Pochtovaya str., Moscow, 105082, Russia 
Tel.: +7(495) 221 1335, +7(495) 221 1333, +7(495) 221 1334 
E-mail: mcdepo@dol.ru

www.mcd.ru

Headquarters

OJSC “Company “M.video” 40/12, Building 1 
Nizhnaya Krasnoselskaya Str. Moscow, 107066, Russia 
Tel.: + 7 495 644 2848 ext. 7064 
E-mail: ir@mvideo.ru

Official website: www.ir.mvideo.ru

For investor relations purposes  
please contact

Denis Davydov  
Investor Relations Director  
Tel.: +7 (495) 644 2848 ext. 7064  
E-mail: ir@mvideo.ru
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A Vibrant World  
of Electronics

Open Joint Stock Company 
“Company M.video” and subsidiaries 

Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended 31 December 2008
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The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors’ 
responsibilities stated in the independent auditors’ report set out on page 38 is made with 
a view of distinguishing the respective responsibilities of the management and those of the 
independent auditors in relation to the consolidated financial statements of OJSC “Company 
M.video” and subsidiaries (the “Group”).

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
present fairly the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2008 and 
the consolidated results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then 
ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

  Selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently;

  Making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

  Stating whether IFRS have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the consolidated financial statements; and

  Preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inap-
propriate to presume that the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:

  Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls 
throughout the Group;

  Maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with IFRS;

  Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and account-
ing standards in the respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

  Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

  Detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 were approved 
on 24 June 2009 by:

A. Tynkovan
Chief Executive Officer

C. Parks
Chief Financial Officer

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities  
for the Preparation and Approval  
of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2008



OJSC “Company m.video” and Subsidiaries

M. video
Annual Report 2008

38

Independent auditors’ report

To the Shareholders of Open Joint Stock Company “Company M.video”: 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock Com-
pany “Company M.video” and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise of the consolidated 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2008 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This respon-
sibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting poli-
cies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our au-
dit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance on whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclo-
sures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal con-
trol. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2008, and its con-
solidated financial performance and the consolidated results of its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Moscow
24 June 2009 

ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS
Business Center “Mokhovaya”
4/7 Vozdvizhenka St., Bldg. 2
Moscow, 125009, Russia

Tel. +7 (495) 7870600
Fax +7 (495) 7870601
www.deloitte.ru
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Notes 2008 2007

assets    

non-current assets:    

Property, plant and equipment* 6 5,917 4,418
Intangible assets* 7 335 43
Long-term loans and notes receivable 5 5
Deferred tax assets 15 915 723
Advances paid for property, plant and equipment - 42
Forward exchange contract 388 32
Other assets* 114 65

Total non-current assets 7,674 5,328

current assets:

Inventories 8 14,115 10,187
Trade accounts receivable 9 138 76
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 10 2,043 1,758
Value added tax recoverable and other taxes receivable 11 1,489 1,590
Income tax receivable 54 6
Other current assets* 164 97
Forward exchange contract 433 -
Short-term investments* 12 1,624 1,305
Cash and cash equivalents 13 5,448 2,380

Total current assets 25,508 17,399

ToTal asseTs 33,182 22,727

Consolidated Financial Statements  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2008

Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2008 (in millions of Russian Rubles)

Moscow
24 June 2009 

*For information relating to prior period reclassification, refer to Notes 2, 23.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)  
as at 31 December 2008 (in millions of Russian Rubles)

Notes 2008 2007

eQuity and liabilities    

eQuity:
Share capital 14 1,798 1,798
Additional paid-in capital 4,576 4,576
Retained earnings 1,615 265

total eQuity 7,989 6,639
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Long-term loans and borrowings 16 3,114 2,127
Deferred tax liabilities 15 446 507
Provisions* 23 119 68

total non-current liabilities 3,679 2,702
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Trade accounts payable 17 14,878 9,176
Other payables and accrued expenses 18 1,309 600
Advances received from customers 318 293
Bonds payable 19 - 118
Short-term loans and borrowings 21 3,943 2,565
Value added tax and other taxes payable 20 138 98
Income tax payable 263 111
Deferred revenue 22 505 305

Provisions* 23 160 104

Forward exchange contract - 16

total current liabilities 21,514 13,386

total liabilities 25,193 16,088

total eQuity and liabilities 33,182 22,727

The Notes on pages 45 to 120 form an integral part of these consolidated financial state-
ments. The independent auditors’ report is presented on page 38.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors: 24 June 2009.

*For information relating to prior period reclassifications, refer to Notes 2, 23.

A. Tynkovan
Chief Executive Officer

C. Parks
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Income Statement for the Year Ended 
31 December 2008 (in millions of Russian Rubles, except earning per share)

Notes 2008 2007

revenue 24 71,486 52,317

cost of sales* 25 (53,610) (40,352)

gross profit 17,876 11,965

Selling, general and administrative expenses* 26 (16,071) (10,733)

Other operating income* 27 1,061 994

other operating expenses* 28 (133) (142)

operating profit 2,733 2,084

finance costs, net* 29 (365) (848)

profit before incoMe tax expense 2,368 1,236

incoMe tax expense 15 (1,112) (587)

net profit for the year 1,256 649

weighted average nuMber of ordinary shares for basic 
and diluted earnings per share (in Millions)** 

180 155

basic and diluted earnings per share attributable  
to ordinary eQuity holders of the parent (in rub)

6.98 4.19

The Notes on pages 45 to 120 form an integral part of these consolidated financial state-
ments. The independent auditors’ report is presented on page 38.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors: 24 June 2009.

*For information relating to the prior year reclassification, refer to Notes 2, 25, 26, 28 and 29.

** The Company’s share registry for 30 million ordinary shares additionally issued in November 2007 was changed on 15 February 2008 (refer to Note 14).

A. Tynkovan
Chief Executive Officer

C. Parks
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ 
Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2008 (In millions 

of Russian Rubles)
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balance as at 1 January 2007 1,498 – (403) 1,095

Issuance of shares 14 300 4,649 – 4,949

Share issuance costs – (92) – (92)

Related deferred income tax 15 – 16 – 16
Related current income tax 15 – 3 – 3
Recognition of share-based payment – – 26 26
for ordinary shares previously issued 30 – – 26 26

Related deferred income tax 15 – – (6) (6)

related current incoMe tax 15 – – (1) (1)

net profit for the year – – 649 649

balance as at 31 deceMber 2007 1,798 4,576 265 6,639

recognition of share-based payMent 

for ordinary shares previously issued 30 – – 87 87

reversal of related incoMe tax previously 
recognized in eQuity

15 – – 7 7

net profit for the year – – 1,256 1,256

balance as at 31 deceMber 2008 1,798 4,576 1,615 7,989

The Notes on pages 45 to 120 form an integral part of these consolidated financial state-
ments. The independent auditors’ report is presented on page 38.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors: 24 June 2009.

A. Tynkovan
Chief Executive Officer

C. Parks
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Year 
Ended 31 december 2008 (In millions of Russian Rubles)

Notes 2008 2007

operating activities:

Net profit for the year 1,256 649
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss 15 1,112 587
Interest expense on loans 29 631 583
Interest income 29 (226) -
Coupon yield expense 29 10 171
Loss on sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 2 -
Depreciation, amortization and impairment loss 26 863 523
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 27,29 734 (25)
Change in allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable 9 - 23
Share-based payment 30 87 26
(Reversal)/accrual of allowance for doubtful notes receivable (12) 31
Accrual of allowance for doubtful advances paid 10 90 30
Change in fair value of forward contracts 29 (937) 22
Change in allowance for goods returns 5 23
Change in allowance for obsolete and slow-moving goods 8 531 243
Change in allowance for probable tax risks other than income tax 33 - 7

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 4,146 2,893

(Increase) in inventories (4,469) (3,469)
(Increase)/decrease in trade accounts receivable (58) 545
(Increase) in other current assets (13) -
(Increase) in other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (453) (481)
Decrease in value added tax recoverable and other taxes receivable 101 76
Decrease in deferred costs - 17
Increase in trade accounts payable 5,462 3,367
Increase in other payables and accrued expenses 867 349
Increase in advances received from customers 25 144
Increase in warranty provision 5 -
Increase/(decrease) in value added tax and other taxes payable 40 (64)
Increase in deferred revenue 200 163

Cash generated by operations 5,853 3,540

Income tax paid (1,254) (1,130)
Interest paid (629) (894)

Forward contracts settlement 132 (53)

neT cash generaTed by operaTing acTiviTies 4,102 1,463
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2008 (In millions of Russian Rubles)

Refer to Notes 6, 10 and 30 for details of non-cash transactions.

The Notes on pages 45 to 120 form an integral part of these consolidated financial state-
ments. The independent auditors’ report is presented on page 38.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors: 24 June 2009.

2008 2007

investing activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (including construction  
in progress) (2,535) (1,476)

Short-term investments with banks (4,834) (1,690)
Proceeds from settlement of short-term investments 4,766 400
Decrease/(increase) in advances paid for property, plant and equipment 42 (28)
Purchases of intangible assets (334) (19)
Receipts from settlements of loans and notes receivable 29 114
Cash invested in loans and notes receivable - (41)

Interest received 304 -

net cash used in investing activities (2,562) (2,740)

financing activities:

Proceeds from issue of equity shares, net of issuance cost - 4,911
Proceeds from sale of equity shares - 28
Proceeds from  long-term borrowings 2,880 74
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 18,418 33,060
Repayment of borrowings (19,833) (33,465)
Bonds repaid (118) (1,883)

net cash generated by financing activities 1,347 2,725

net increase in cash and cash eQuivalents 2,887 1,448

net foreign exchange difference 181 -

cash and cash eQuivalents at the beginning of the year 2,380 932

cash and cash eQuivalents at the end of the year 5,448 2,380

A. Tynkovan
Chief Executive Officer

C. Parks
Chief Financial Officer
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2008 (In millions of Russian Rubles)

Name of subsidiary Nature of business

Proportion of own-
ership interest and 
voting power held, 

% 2008

Proportion of own-
ership interest and 
voting power held, 

% 2007

LLC “M.video Management” Trading 100 100

LLC “M.video Torg” Equipment 100 100

LLC “M.video Trade” Trading 100 100
LLC “Sphera Invest” Real estate 100 100
LLC “Standard Invest” Real estate 100 100
LLC “M.video Finance” Finance 100 100

The consolidated financial statements of OJSC “Company M.video” (the “Company”) and sub-
sidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2008 were authorized for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 24 June 2009.

The Company and its subsidiaries (see the table below) are incorporated in the Russian Fed-
eration. 

The Company is registered at: 40/12, building 20, Nizhnaya Krasnoselskaya Street, Moscow, 
105066, Russian Federation. Following the initial public offering in November 2007, the Com-
pany’s shares were admitted to trading on RTS and MICEX in the Russian Federation.

LLC “Company M.video” was incorporated on 3 December 2003. The reorganization of the 
Group’s operational activities occurred over the period to December 2005 with the full trad-
ing operations commencing on 1 January 2006.  On 25 September 2006 the Company was 
reorganized from a Limited Liability Company to an Open Joint Stock Company.

The Group is the operator of a chain of consumer electronic stores operating in the Russian 
Federation. The Group specializes in the sale of TV, audio, video, Hi-Fi, home appliances and 
digital equipment, as well as related services.

The Group operates in two sectors: retail and wholesale. The retail sector is comprised of a 
chain of owned and leased stores (157 stores as at 31 December 2008; 122 stores as at 31 
December 2007) and two online internet stores that sell to end users. The wholesale sector is 
comprised of sales to other retailers.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include assets, liabilities and result of 
operations of the following Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008 and 2007:

1 / 

General information
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Shareholders 
As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the registered shareholders of OJSC “Company M.video” 
and their respective ownership and voting interests were as follows:

2008 2007

Svece Limited 69.9626% 69.9626%
M.video Holding (Cyprus) Limited 0.7405% 0.8331%
Various shareholders 29.2969% 29.2043%
Total 100% 100%

ToTal 100% 100%

Ultimate Shareholders
M.video Investment Ltd. (BVI), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands controls 
100% of the voting and ordinary shares of M.video Holding (Cyprus) Limited and Svece Lim-
ited (a company incorporated in Cyprus), and is the ultimate parent entity of the Company.

Mr. Alexander Tynkovan, a citizen of the Russian Federation, has a controlling interest in 
M.video Investment Ltd. (BVI).
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Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis of Accounting
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
the valuation of financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Rec-
ognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) and valuation of items of property, plant and equip-
ment measured at fair value which was used as deemed cost of the property, plant and equip-
ment as at the date of transition to IFRS. The Group transitioned to IFRS on 1 January 2006.

All companies within the Group maintain their accounting records in accordance with Russian 
Accounting Standards (“RAS”). RAS differ substantially from those standards generally accept-
ed under IFRS. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared 
based on the Russian statutory accounting records, reflect those adjustments necessary for 
such consolidated financial statements to be presented in accordance with IFRS.

Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Russian Rubles (“RUB”), which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency. Functional currency for each Group company 
has been determined as the currency of the primary economic environment in which the com-
pany operates.

2/

Basis of Preparation
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Adoption of new standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year ex-
cept as discussed below.

The Group has adopted the following new and amended standards and IFRIC interpretations 
in these annual consolidated financial statements:

  IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions”;

  IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements”;

  IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 
their Interaction”.

The Group does not currently have any transactions that fall within the scope of IFRIC 12 and 
14.

IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transaction”
The Group has adopted IFRIC Interpretation 11 insofar as it applies to consolidated financial 
statements. This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights 
to an entity’s equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the 
entity buys the instruments from another party, or the shareholders provide the equity instru-
ments needed. The adoption of this interpretation did not have any effect on the financial po-
sition or performance of the Group as the Group’s accounting treatments of such transactions 
were consistent with the new interpretation.

The Group has early adopted the following standards and interpretations in these annual 
consolidated financial statements:

  IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” (revised);

  IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Program”.
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IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” (Revised)
The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued an amendment to IAS 23 in 
April 2007. The revised IAS 23 requires capitalization of borrowing costs that are directly at-
tributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. The Group’s 
previous policy was to expense borrowing costs as they were incurred. In accordance with 
the transitional provisions of the amended IAS 23, the Group has adopted this standard on a 
prospective basis. Therefore, borrowing costs are capitalized on qualifying assets with com-
mencement date on or after 1 January 2008. A total of 8 million RUB of borrowing costs has 
been capitalized during the year ended 31 December 2008.

IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Program”
The IFRIC issued IFRIC 13 in June 2007. This interpretation requires customer loyalty 
credits to be accounted as a separate component of the sales transaction in which they 
are granted. A portion of the fair value of the consideration received is allocated to the 
award credits and deferred. This is then recognized as revenue over the period that the 
award credits are redeemed. The Group applied this interpretation in connection with 
commencement of the Group’s new loyalty program in May 2008. As the loyalty program 
was operating only for a part of this reporting period, the prior year financial informa-
tion has not been affected. A portion of the revenue attributable to award credits not yet 
redeemed by the Group’s customers as at 31 December 2008 was presented as deferred 
revenue in these consolidated financial statements and amounted to 113 million RUB.
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Other changes in the application of the Group’s  
accounting policies
The Group has also changed accounting policy with respect to capitalization of expenditures 
on low value non-current assets. The nature and principle effect of this change are described 
below.

Capitalization of the expenditures on low value non-current assets
Due to change in approach starting 2008 the Group capitalizes expenditures on low value non-
current assets such as furniture, trade equipment and computer equipment when it is probable 
that the Group will derive future economic benefits from them. Such low value assets are ag-
gregated by specific groups when purchased and depreciated over three years. In prior periods 
the Company expensed these items immediately when the assets were acquired. The Group ap-
plied this change in accounting prospectively as it was impracticable to determine the prior pe-
riod effect of this change. However, the Group believes that any potential effect of this change 
resulting from its retrospective application would not be material. The total value of low value 
items capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 
2008 amounted to 73 million RUB.
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 Reclassifications
In 2008 the Group changed presentation of certain items of assets, liabilities, income and ex-
penses in order to enhance fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements. With this 
regard the Group made the following reclassifications to the prior year amounts to conform to 
the presentation of the current reporting period:

As previous-
ly reported

Reclas-
sification

After  
reclas- 

sification comment

consolidaTed balance 
sheeT

Other non-current assets 162 (97) 65 Reclassification of the short 
term portion of the warranty 
provision in respect of ad-
ditional service agreements 
together with equal corre-
sponding asset into current 
asset (Note 23).

Other current assets - 97 97

Provisions, non-current 165 (97) 68

Provisions, current 7 97 104

Property, plant and equip-
ment 4,412 6 4,418

Other insignificant reclassifica-
tions

Construction in progress 20 (20) -

Intangible assets 29 14 43
Short-term loans and notes 
receivable 15 (15) -

Short-term investments 1,290 15 1,305

consolidaTed income 
sTaTemenT

Cost of sales (39,953) (399) (40,352) Transportation expenses 
incurred in 2007 related to 
goods delivered from suppliers 
outside the Russian Federation 
to the Group’s warehouses in 
Moscow reclassified as part of 
the net cost of merchandise 
inventory sold (Notes 25 and 
26).

Selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses (11,132) 399 (10,733)

Other operating income 947 47 994 Exchange difference arising 
from foreign currency bor-
rowings incurred in 2007 was 
reclassified into finance cost 
(Notes 27, 28 and 29).

Other operating expenses (167) 25 (142)

Finance cost, net (776) (72) (848)
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BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain ben-
efits from its activities.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the 
parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the 
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceas-
es.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business and geographic segments
The Group has only one reportable business and geographic segment thus according to IAS 14 
“Segment Reporting” the Group does not present segment reporting information.

Going concern
These IFRS consolidated financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group’s entity are presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the 
purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each 
entity are expressed in rubles (“RUB”), which is the functional currency of the Company and 
the subsidiaries and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items de-
nominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

3 /

Significant Accounting Policies
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Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Ex-
change differences arising on loans and borrowings are reported as part of finance cost, while 
exchange differences related to operating items are included into other operating income and 
expenses.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Deemed cost of the items of property, plant and equipment 
existing as at 1 January 2006, the date of transition to IFRS, was determined on the basis of fair 
values determined by independent appraisers as allowed by the provisions of IFRS 1. Fair value 
of properties was determined with reference to market prices, while fair value of the other 
items, including the Group’s trade equipment, was predominantly based on the estimates of 
depreciated replacement costs. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attribut-
able to the acquisition of the items.

Major replacements or modernizations of property, plant and equipment are capitalized and 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives. All other repair and maintenance expenditure is 
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated 
useful lives, using the straight line method, on the following bases:

For leasehold improvements the depreciation period includes the period when the Group has 
the possibility to extend the period of the lease, taking into account the legal provisions relat-
ing to lease terms, and its intention to seek a long term presence in the various retail locations 
in which it operates. This is relevant for leases of retail space which, on a portfolio basis, have 
a history of successful renewal. All other leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
shorter of useful life or the related lease term.

Trade equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful life specified above unless there is 
a plan to fully renovate the store prior to reaching the predetermined estimated useful life. In 

Buildings 20-30 years
Leasehold improvements 2-7 years
Trade equipment 5 years
Security equipment 3 years
Other fixed assets 3-5 years
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this situation, the net book value of trade equipment will be depreciated over the remaining 
estimated useful life being the period of time up to the planned renovation works.

The assets’ residual value and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date. Where there are indicators that an asset’s or cash generating unit’s carry-
ing amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recover-
able amount.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the differ-
ence between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in 
income.

Construction in progress comprises the cost of equipment in the process of installation and 
other costs directly relating to the construction of property, plant and equipment including 
an appropriate allocation of directly attributable variable overheads that are incurred in con-
struction. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as for other property assets, com-
mences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Intangible assets – Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulat-
ed amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is charged on a straight-
line basis over estimated useful lives of these intangible assets. The estimated useful life and 
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives per class of intangible assets are as follows:

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At each balance sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impair-
ment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. For tangible and intangible assets the 
CGU is deemed to be each group of stores located in one city. Where a reasonable and consis-
tent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units 
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Software licenses 5-10 years;
Trade marks 5-10 years.
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Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 
profit as reported in the consolidated  income statement because it excludes items of income 
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or deductible.

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and lia-
bilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabili-
ties are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial rec-
ognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary dif-
ference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will 
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to be reversed in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and re-
duced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be ap-
plied in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
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would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and li-
abilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income in the consolidated income 
statement, except when they relate to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which 
case the tax is also recognized directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting 
for a business combination. In the case of 

a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or in de-
termining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

Fair value
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is deter-
mined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet 
date. For investment where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation 
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arms length market transactions; reference 
to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially the same; discounted 
cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

Financial assets
Investments are recognized and derecognized on a trade date, where the purchase or sale of 
an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the 
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net 
of transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets as ‘at 
fair value through profit or loss’ (“FVTPL”), ‘held-to-maturity investments’, ‘available-for-sale’ 
(“AFS”) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those fi-
nancial assets designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets as at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or 
it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

  It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

  It is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages to-
gether and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

  It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL 
upon initial recognition if:

  Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsis-
tency that would otherwise arise; or

  The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, 
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about 
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

  It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 “Fi-
nancial instruments: recognition and measurement” permits the entire combined contract 
(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets as at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognized 
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 
3 above.
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Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment, with revenue recognized on an effective yield method. For the pe-
riods covered by the accompanying financial statements, the Group did not hold any invest-
ments in this category.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receiv-
ables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment 
and bad debts. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale (“AFS”) financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are 
designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. 
After initial measurement, available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses being recognized directly in equity in the net unrealized gains re-
serve. When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in 
equity is recognized in the income statement. Interest earned or paid on the investments is 
reported as interest income or expense using the effective interest rate. Dividends earned on 
investments are recognized in the income statement as ‘Dividends received’ when the right or 
payment have been established.

For available for sale investments for which there is no reliable market information to deter-
mine fair value, the investments are carried at cost.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those as at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial as-
set, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. For financial assets 
carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the origi-
nal effective interest rate.
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The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception of trade accounts receivable where the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade accounts receivable is uncol-
lectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts pre-
viously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount 
of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.

With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognized.

In respect of AFS equity securities, any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss 
is recognized directly in equity.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of own-
ership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset and 
also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments  
issued by the Group

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accor-
dance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instrument
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded as the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and are sub-
sequently measured at the higher of:

  The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and

  The amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization recog-
nized in accordance with the revenue recognition policies set out below.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities as at FVTPL or other financial li-
abilities.
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Financial liabilities as at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trad-
ing or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

  It has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

  It is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages to-
gether and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

  It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at 
FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

  Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsis-
tency that would otherwise arise; or

  The financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, 
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about 
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

  It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 “Fi-
nancial instruments: recognition and measurement” permits the entire combined contract 
(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities as at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recog-
nized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any inter-
est paid on the financial liability. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 3 
above.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of trans-
action costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the eq-
uity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of 
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in Note 30.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its 
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of 
the original estimates, if any, is recognized in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period 
with a corresponding adjustment to retained earnings.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign ex-
change rate risk on its foreign currency denominated debt, namely foreign exchange forward 
contracts. The Group does not use hedge accounting for these derivatives. As a result, such 
derivative financial instruments are treated as other financial assets and liabilities as at FVTPL. 
Gains and losses recognized for the changes in fair value of forward contracts are presented as 
part of finance costs or other operating expenses of the Group depending on whether its use 
is related to a financial item or an operating item.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward ex-
change rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

Costs of an equity transaction 
The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity 
(net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly at-
tributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have been avoided.

The amount of transaction costs accounted for as a deduction from equity in the period is dis-
closed separately. The related amount of income taxes recognized directly in equity is includ-
ed in the aggregate amount of current and deferred income tax credited or charged to equity.
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Value added tax
Value added tax (“VAT”) related to sales is payable to tax authorities on the earliest of (a) 
cash received from customers in advance or (b) transfer of the goods or rendering services 
to customers. Input VAT is generally recoverable against sales VAT upon receipt of the VAT 
invoice. Input VAT on construction in progress can be reclaimed on receipt of VAT invoices for 
the particular stage of work performed or, if the construction in progress project can not be 
broken down into stages, on receipt of VAT invoices upon completion of the contracted work.

VAT is generally allowed to be settled on a net basis. VAT related to sales and purchases which 
have not been settled at the balance sheet date is recognized in the balance sheet on a gross 
basis and disclosed separately as an asset and liability. Where a provision has been made for 
the impairment of receivables, the impairment loss is recorded for the gross amount of the 
debtor, including VAT.

Inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. In-bound freight 
related costs from our suppliers are included as part of the net cost of merchandise invento-
ries. Certain supplier bonuses that are not reimbursement of specific, incremental and identifi-
able costs to promote a supplier’s products are also included in the cost of inventory. Other 
costs associated with storing and transporting merchandise inventories to our retail stores are 
expensed as incurred and included as part of selling, general and administrative expenses.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less esti-
mated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, in transit and on hand in stores and short 
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Borrowing costs
The borrowing costs are capitalized by the Group as part of the cost of the asset when the 
costs are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction of a qualifying asset including 
construction in progress with a commencement date on or after 1 January 2008. The Group 
defines qualifying assets as leasehold improvements and other assets acquired in connection 
with the new store openings which generally take four months or longer to become opera-
tional. Other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and un-
certainties surrounding the obligation.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Warranties
Warranties are generally covered by the brand owner directly or through their authorized 
agents in Russia.

When a supplier is unable to offer warranty services for their products in the Russian Federa-
tion, the Group makes a provision for warranty costs. These costs are recognized at the date 
of sale of the relevant products at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the Group’s obligations.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates, discounts and value added tax. Inter-com-
pany revenue is eliminated. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognized:

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all the following conditions are satisfied:

  The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods;

  The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associ-
ated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

  The amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

  It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and
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  The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

The Group has two categories of goods for resale: retail and wholesale.

Retail revenue (excluding revenue from sale of additional service agreements) is recognized at 
the point of sale or when the delivery is complete, if later. Retail sales are transacted by either 
cash or credit card. The recognized revenue includes credit card fees payable for the transac-
tion. Such costs are presented in operating expenses.

Starting from 2008 the Group operates a loyalty points program “M.video Bonus”, which al-
lows customers to accumulate points when they purchase goods in the Group’s retail stores. 
The points can then be redeemed as a payment for merchandise, subject to a minimum num-
ber of points being obtained. Proceeds from sale to members of the loyalty program are al-
located between the loyalty points and the other components of the sale. The consideration 
allocated to the loyalty points is measured by reference to their fair value, i.e. the amount for 
which the loyalty points could be sold separately. This amount is deferred and recognized as 
revenue when the points are redeemed. Expected breakage is recognized as revenue at the 
time of initial sale as it is excluded from the amount allocated to loyalty points.

Wholesale revenue is recognized when the customer has collected the goods from the ware-
house or when goods are delivered and accepted at the customer’s warehouse and after sat-
isfying the criteria outlined above.

Revenue from services
Revenue from services is recognized in the period in which the services have been rendered. 

The following conditions are also satisfied:

  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity;

  The stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date can be measured reli-
ably; and

  The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be mea-
sured reliably.
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Additional service agreements
Revenue from the sale of additional service agreements is recognized on an ‘as earned’ basis 
with the unearned portion (if any) spread over the remaining term of the contracts to reflect 
the costs the Group expects to incur in performance of its contractual obligations. The revenue 
is recognized in full when no further costs are expected to be incurred.

Costs directly associated with the sale of additional service agreements, such as sales bonuses 
paid to shop assistants, as well as commission paid to other parties to provide full or partial 
coverage of the Group’s obligations under existing additional service agreements are recog-
nized in the income statement on the same basis as related revenue.

Revenue from the sale of additional service agreements is disclosed within retail revenue.

Agents
The Group recognizes as revenue any sales performed as an agent at net amounts. Such fees 
include sales of telephone service contracts, service and installation fees.

Gift cards
The Group sells gift cards to its customers in its retail stores and through its website. The gift 
cards have an expiration date and are required to be used during specified periods of time. The 
Group recognizes income from gift cards when: (i) the gift card is redeemed by the customer; 
or (ii) when the gift cards expire.

Interest income
Revenue is recognized as interest is acrrued (using the effective interest method). Interest 
income is included in finance cost in the consolidated  income statement.

Supplier bonuses
The Group receives bonuses from suppliers. All supplier bonuses are treated as volume al-
lowances unless they are subject to a separate agreement which is specific, incremental and 
identifiable. Supplier bonuses which are earned by achieving certain volume purchases are 
recorded when it is reasonably assured the Group will reach these volumes. Supplier bonuses 
based on volume are recorded as a reduction of the carrying cost of the inventory to which 
they relate. Supplier bonuses provided as a reimbursement of specific, incremental and iden-
tifiable costs incurred to promote a supplier’s products are included as an expense (or asset 
cost) reduction when the cost is incurred.
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Leases

The Group has not entered into any finance leases, although it does have a significant number 
of operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease 
term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising un-
der operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
The impact of lease escalation clauses are recognized in expenses in the period in which they 
are activated.

Any benefits received from the landlord as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are 
spread over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Pre-opening expenses
Expenses incurred in the process of opening new stores which do not meet capitalization cri-
teria under IAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” are expensed as incurred. Such expenses 
include rent, utilities and other operating expenses.

Employee benefits
The Group contributes to the Russian Federation state pension, medical and social insurance 
on behalf of all its current employees by paying unified social tax (“UST”). Any related ex-
penses are recognized in the consolidated  income statement as they become due. The Group 
does not operate any employer sponsored pension plans.
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The following new or revised standards and interpretations issued by IASB and IFRIC have 
been published at the date of authorization of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2008, but are not yet effective and will be mandatory for 
adoption in the Group’s financial statements for periods ending after 31 December 2008:

Amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards” and IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Finan-
cial Statements”

The amendments to IFRS 1 allow an entity to determine the “cost” of investment in subsidiar-
ies, jointly controlled entities or associates in its opening IFRS financial statements in accor-
dance with IAS 27 or using a deemed cost. The amendment to IAS 27 requires all dividends 
from a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate to be recognized in the income state-
ment in the separate financial statement. Both revisions will be effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revision to IAS 27 will have to be applied prospec-
tively. The new requirement affects only the parent’s separate financial statement and does 
not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (revised)
The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 in January 2008 that clarifies the definition of a 
vesting condition and prescribes the treatment for an award that is effectively cancelled. The 
adoption of this amendment will not have an impact of the financial position or performance 
of the Group as no events occurred that this clarification relates to.

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” (revised) and IAS 27 “Consolidat-
ed and Separate Financial Statements” (revised)

The revised standards were issued in January 2008 and become effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. IFRS 3 (revised) introduces a number of changes in the 
accounting for business combinations occurring after this date that will impact the amount 
of goodwill recognized, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and fu-
ture reported results. IAS 27 (revised) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a 
subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such 
transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Further-
more, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as 
well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made to IAS 
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7 “Statement of Cash Flows”, IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, IAS 21 “The Effect of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates”, IAS 28 “Investment in Associates”, and IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”. The 
changes in IFRS 3 (revised) and IAS 27 (revised) will affect future acquisitions or loss of con-
trol and transactions with minority interests. The standards will have no effect on the Group’s 
reported income or net assets on adoption.

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”
The IASB issued IFRS 8 in November 2006. The standard is effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 “Segment Reporting” (“IAS 14”) upon 
its effective date. Management concluded that the Group operates within one reportable seg-
ment; therefore adoption of the standard will not affect the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements except for addition of certain mandatory disclosures.

IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (revised)
The revised standard was issued in September 2007 and becomes effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Standard separates owner and non-owner changes 
in equity. 

The statement of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with 
non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, the Standard introduces 
the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of recognized income and ex-
penses, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group is evaluating 
presentation options allowed by the revised standard and will make its choice on its adop-
tion.

IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and IAS 1 “Presenta-
tion of Financial Statements” – Puttable Financial Instruments  
and Obligations Arising on Litigations

The amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 were issued in February 2008 and become effective for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revision provides a limited scope 
exception for puttable instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfill a number of specified 
features. The amendments to the standards will have no impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group, as the Group has not issued such instruments.
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IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement –  
Eligible Hedge Items”

These amendments to IAS 39 were issued in August 2008 and become effective for finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The amendment addresses the designation of 
one-side risk in a hedge item, and the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in 
particular situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair 
value changes or cash flow variability of a financial instrument as hedged item. The Group has 
concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the financial position or performance 
of the Group, as the Group has not entered into such hedges.

Improvements to IFRSs

In May 2008 IASB issued its first omnibus of amendments to some of its standards, primar-
ily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. All such amendments are 
likely to have no effect on the Group’s financial statements and have not been early adopted 
by the Group. These changes are effective since 1st January 2009 or later.

IFRIC 15 “Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate”
IFRIC 15 was issued in July 2008 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively. It clarifies when and 
how revenue and related expenses from sale of a real estate unit should be recognized if an 
agreement between a developer and a buyer is reached before the construction of the real 
estate is completed. Furthermore, the interpretation provides guidance on how to determine 
whether an agreement is within the scope of IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” or IAS 18 “Rev-
enue”. IFRIC 15 will not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements because the 
Group does not conduct such activity.

IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”
IFRIC 16 was issued in July 2008 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 October 2008. The interpretation is to be applied prospectively. IFRIC 16 provides 
guidance on the accounting for a hedge of a net investment. As such it provides guidance on 
identifying the foreign currency risk that qualify for hedge accounting in the hedge of a net 
investment, where within the group hedging instruments can be held in the hedge of a net 
investment and how an entity should determine the amount of foreign currency gain or loss, 
relating to both the net investment and the hedging instrument, to be recycled on disposal of 
the net investment. The interpretation will not have an impact of the consolidated financial 
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statements because the Group does not perform transactions to which it relates.

IFRIC 17 “Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners” 
The IFRIC was issued in November 2008 and shall be applied prospectively for financial years beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009. The IFRIC clarifies when and how distribution of non-cash assets as dividends to 
the owners should be recognized. An entity should measure a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a 
dividend to its owners at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. A gain or loss on disposal of the 
distributed non-cash assets will be recognised in profit or loss when the entity settles the dividend pay-
able. IFRIC 17 is not relevant to the Group’s operations because it does not distribute non-cash assets to 
owners.

IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from Customers”
The IFRIC was issued in January 2009 and shall be applied for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 
2009. The interpretation clarifies the accounting for transfers of assets from customers, namely, the cir-
cumstances in which the definition of an asset is met; the recognition of the asset and the measurement of 
its cost on initial recognition; the identification of the separately identifiable services (one or more services 
in exchange for the transferred asset); the recognition of revenue, and the accounting for transfers of cash 
from customers. IFRIC 18 is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which have been described in Note 3, 
management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The esti-
mates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant, including, but not limited to, the uncertainties and ambiguities 
of the Russian legal and taxation systems and the difficulties in securing contractual rights as 
defined in contracts. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to ac-
counting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Significant estimates and assumptions

Inventory valuation
Management reviews the inventory balances to determine if inventories can be sold at 
amounts greater than or equal to their carrying amounts plus costs to sell. This review includes 
identification of slow moving inventories, obsolete inventories and partially or fully damaged 
inventories. The identification process includes historical performance of the inventory, current 
operational plans for the inventory, as well as industry and customer specific trends. Damaged 
stock is either provided for or written off depending on the extent of damage. Management 
makes a provision for any items considered to be obsolete. The provision represents the differ-
ence between the cost of inventory and its estimated net realizable value.

The net realizable value allowance was calculated using the following methodology:

(a) Stock held for resale – comparison of expected selling price versus the carrying value on a 
stock keeping unit basis;

(b) Damaged goods – examination of historical data relating to discounts associated with 
damaged goods and comparison to book value at the balance sheet date;

(c) Stock held at service centers – a provision is applied based on management estimate of the 
carrying value of the inventory;

(d) Additional amount is accrued if there is actual evidence of a decline in selling prices after 
the reporting period to the extent that such decline confirms conditions existing at the end of 
the period.
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If actual results differ from management’s expectations with respect to the selling of inventories at amounts 
equal to or less than their carrying amounts, management would be required to adjust the amount of in-
ventories.

 

Allowances for doubtful accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is established if there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect the amounts due according to original contractual terms and reduces accounts 
receivable to the amounts expected to be collected. In estimating uncollectible amounts, management 
considers factors such as current overall economic conditions, historical customer performance and an-
ticipated customer performance. The Group’s provisions cover individual balances where there is evidence 
that losses are probable as at the balance sheet date. Management uses significant judgment in estimat-
ing uncollectible amounts. While management believes its processes effectively address the exposure for 
doubtful accounts receivable, changes in the economy, industry or specific customer conditions may re-
quire adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable recorded in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Tax and customs provisions and contingencies
The Group is subject to various taxes arising in the Russian Federation. The majority of its merchandise is 
imported into Russia and is therefore subject to the Russian customs regulations. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the provision for income taxes and other taxes. The Group recognizes liabilities 
for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Refer to Note 33 for 
further discussion.

Recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences as management believes there 
will be sufficient future taxable profits to utilize those temporary differences.

Share-based payments
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is based on the Group’s estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will eventually vest and other estimates outlined in Note 30.
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Useful life of property, plant and equipment
Trade equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful life specified in Note 3 above. The 
estimated useful life is adjusted when there is a plan to fully renovate the store in the near 
future, in which case carrying value of related trade equipment is depreciated over the period 
of time up to the planned renovation work. During the year ended 31 December 2007 the 
Group reassessed useful lives of the trade equipment prompted by revised renovation plans, 
which increased the consolidated depreciation expense during the current financial year by 7 
million RUB (2007 – 22 million RUB).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The determination of impairment of property, plant and equipment involves the use of esti-
mates that include, but are not limited, to the cause, timing and amount of impairment. Impair-
ment is based on a large number of factors, such as changes in current competitive conditions, 
expectations of growth in the industry, increase of cost of capital, changes in the future avail-
ability of financing, technological obsolescence, current replacement cost and other changes 
in the circumstances that indicate that impairment exists. The determination of the recoverable 
amount of cash-generating unit involves the use of estimates by management. Methods used 
to determine the value in use include discounted cash flow-based methods, which require the 
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit 
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. These estimates, including the methods used are described in Note 6.

 

Revenue attributed to loyalty program points
The Group estimates the fair value of points awarded under M.video Bonus loyalty program 
by applying “bonus ruble conversion rate” so that part of consideration allocated to the award 
credits represents their purchase capacity. Management also makes assumption about ex-
pected redemption rates. Points issued under the program expire with the passage of time, 
therefore such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty as at balance sheet date. As at 
31 December 2008, the estimated liability for unredeemed points was 113 million RUB.
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Critical judgments in applying the entity’s  
accounting policies

Recognition of revenue from sale of additional service agreements and associ-
ated costs

Revenue earned from the sale of additional service agreements is recognized on an ‘as earned’ basis with 
the unearned portion (if any) spread over the remaining term of the contracts to reflect the costs the 
Group expects to incur in performance of its contractual obligations.

With respect to sale of additional service agreements the Group operates under agreement concluded 
with a related party services provider which assumed substantially all of the Group’s obligations under all 
of the existing and future additional service agreements for a consideration based on a fixed proportion 
of fees charged to customers.

The fixed commission paid to a related party service centre to provide coverage for the Group’s obligations 
under the additional service agreements is recognized immediately as part of cost of sales. Other direct 
costs associated with the sale of additional service agreements, such as sales bonuses paid to shop as-
sistants are disclosed as part of selling, general and administrative expenses.

Supplier bonuses
The Group receives various types of allowances from suppliers in the form of volume discounts and promo-
tional, advertising and stocking fees. Management has concluded that substantially all supplier bonuses 
received or receivable by the Group should be treated as volume based, effectively reducing the cost of 
goods purchase from the suppliers, rather than a reimbursement of specific costs incurred by the Group.

Allowance for goods returns
The Group recognizes allowance for goods returns by the customers as a reduction of sales in the period 
in which the underlying sales are recognized. The amount of this allowance is calculated on the basis of 
management’s best estimate of the amount of product that will ultimately be returned by customers.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

B
ui

ld
in

g
s

Le
a

se
ho

ld
 

im
pr

ov
e-

m
en

ts

Co
ns

tr
uc

ti
o

n 
in

 p
ro

g
re

ss

Tr
a

d
e 

 
eq

ui
pm

en
t

Se
cu

ri
ty

 
eq

ui
pm

en
t

O
th

er

To
ta

l

cost

As at 31 December 2006 2,205 527 35 410 197 380 3,754
Additions - - 1,462 - - - 1,462
Transfers 83 787 (1,491) 191 122 308 -
Disposals - - - - - - -
As at 31 December 2007 2,288 1,314 6 601 319 688 5,216
Additions - - 2,322 - - - 2,322

Transfers 694 838 (2,270) 220 133 385 -

Disposals - - - (22) (4) (10) (36)

as at 31 deceMber 2008 2,982 2,152 58 799 448 1,063 7,502

accuMulated depreciation 
and iMpairMent loss

As at 31 December 2006 9 42 - 89 66 89 295
Charge for the year 112 91 - 101 71 128 503
Disposals - - - - - - -
As at 31 December 2007 121 133 - 190 137 217 798
Charge for the year 123 196 - 154 105 208 786
Disposals - - - (21) (4) (9) (34)
Impairment loss - 26 - 3 2 4 35
As at 31 December 2008 244 355 - 326 240 420 1,585

net book value

as at 31 deceMber 2007 2,167 1,181 6 411 182 471 4,418

as at 31 deceMber 2008 2,738 1,797 58 473 208 643 5,917

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the follow-
ing:

As at 31 December 2008 there was no property, plant and equipment which served as collat-
eral for the Group’s borrowings (31 December 2007: 418 million RUB), for more details refer 
to Notes 16 and 21.
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As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 there were no commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment.

During the year 2008 the borrowing costs of 8 million RUB (2007: nil) were capitalized as part of the 
cost of the Group’s property, plant and equipment. Capitalization rate for 2008 was 7% (2007: not ap-
plicable).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Due to the deterioration in the economic situation in the Russian Federation as a result of the recent tur-
moil in global capital and credit markets there have been certain indicators which required the Group to 
review its non-current assets for impairment at the balance sheet date. The Group performed an impair-
ment test for all cash-generating units representing each city in which the Group’s stores are located. The 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units has been determined based on value in use calculation 
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Board of Directors for the next 
year and projected growth rates for next four years with reference to gross regional domestic product for 
the regions where the Group operates and expected inflation for the Group’s merchandise. These growth 
rates are ranging from 3% to 8% and the expected inflation 10%. Cash flows beyond the five – year period 
were extrapolated using a long-term growth rate of 5%. 

The pre-tax discount rate used in calculations was 21.56%. It is based on the Group’s weighted average 
cost of capital and reflects management’s estimates of the risks associated with the investments into the 
Group. In determining appropriate discount rate regard has been given to published analyst research with 
respect to the Group.

In accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” the recoverable amount of each individual CGU was 
compared  with its carrying amount. An impairment loss in the amount 35 million RUB was recognized 
and included into selling, general and administrative expenses as part of “Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment loss”. The impairment loss relates to capital expenditures incurred at year-end to open new 
store in Ulyanovsk. No other impairment losses were identified.

The management has concluded there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions which 
would cause the carrying amount of the Group’s assets to materially exceed its value in use. 
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

During 2008 the Group incurred expenditures in the total amount of 334 million RUB which 
for the most part related to the acquisition of software for the customer loyalty program and 
implementation of additional functionality of the Group’s ERP system SAP.

Amortization expense has been included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group had commitments for the acquisition of soft-
ware licenses. Refer to Note 33 for further details.
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As at 31 December 2006 34 2 36
Additions 31 - 31
Disposals - (1) (1)
As at 31 December 2007 65 1 66
Additions 323 11 334
Disposals - - -
As at 31 December 2008 388 12 400

accumulaTed amorTizaTion

As at 31 December 2006 3 - 3
Charge for the year 20 - 20
As at 31 December 2007 23 - 23
Charge for the year 41 1 42
As at 31 December 2008 64 1 65

neT book value

as aT 31 december 2007 42 1 43

as aT 31 december 2008 324 11 335
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8/ 

Inventories

For information relating to the cost of inventory recognized as an expense during the year 
ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 refer to Note 25.

As at 31 December 2008 the value of inventory pledged as collateral for Group’s borrowings 
was 10,063 million RUB (31 December 2007: 9,988 million RUB).

Inventories as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

2008 2007

Goods for resale 14,646 11,032
Other inventories 977 132
Less: allowance for obsolete and slow moving goods (1,508) (977)

ToTal 14,115 10,187
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9/ 

Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 7-30 day terms.

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade accounts receivable:

Movement in the allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable:

The Group did not have any individually significant impaired trade accounts receivable bal-
ances as at 31 December 2008.

For details relating to trade accounts receivable from related parties refer to Note 31.

Refer to Note 34 for discussion of concentration of credit risk.

2008 2007

Trade accounts receivable from third parties 223 165
Allowance for goods returns (62) (66)
Allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable (23) (23)

ToTal 138 76

2008 2007

Balance at the beginning of the year 23 -
Impairment losses recognized on accounts receivable 2 23
Amounts written off as uncollectible - -
Amounts recovered during the year (2) -
Impairment losses reversed - -

balance aT The end of The year 23 23

2008 2007

30-60 days 8 3
60-90 days - -
90-120 days - 9
120+ days - 21

ToTal 8 33
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10/ 

Other accounts receivable  
and prepaid expenses

Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 con-
sisted of the following:

For details relating to other accounts receivable from related parties refer to Note 31.

Ageing of past due but not impaired other accounts receivable from third and related parties 
is as follows:

Change in other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses includes non-cash transaction in 
the amount of 36 million RUB related to derecognition of receivables against previously rec-
ognized allowance.

The receivable impaired as at 31 December 2008 was aged 120+ days (31 December 2007: 
120+ days). 

Carrying value of other accounts receivable approximates their fair value.

2008 2007

Advances paid to suppliers and prepaid expenses 1,870 1,284
Other accounts receivable from third parties 209 479
Other accounts receivable from related parties - 31
Advances paid to related parties 54 -
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (90) (36)

ToTal 2,043 1,758

2008 2007

30-60 days - -
60-90 days - 1
90-120 days - -
120+ days - 45

ToTal - 46

Movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

2008 2007

Balance at the beginning of the year 36 6
Impairment losses recognized on other receivables 90 36
Amounts written off as uncollectible (36) -
Amounts recovered during the year - -
Impairment losses reversed - (6)

balance aT The end of The year 90 36
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2008 2007

VAT recoverable 1,484 1,580
Other taxes receivable 5 10

ToTal 1,489 1,590

Interest rate Maturity 2008 2007

Short-term deposit in bank 8.5% March 2009 1,140 -
Short-term deposit in bank 4% March 2009 323 -
Short-term deposit in bank 8.2% February 2009 161 -
Short-term deposit in bank 8.8% May 2008 - 750
Short-term deposit in bank 9.1% May 2008 - 540
Total short- term deposits in banks 1,624 1,290

Promissory notes receivable from  
third parties

0%
December 

2009 (2007: 
April 2008)

19 12

Less: provision for doubtful promissory notes 
receivable

(19) -

Unsecured RUB loans given to third parties 0% February 2008 - 3
Total short-term loans and notes receivable - 15

ToTal 1,624 1,305

11/ 

Value Added Tax Recoverable  
and Other Taxes Receivable

12/ 

Short-term Investments

Value added tax recoverable and other taxes receivable as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 
consisted of the following:

Short term loans and notes receivable as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 consisted of the 
following:

Promissory notes receivable from third parties represent promissory notes received from DVI 
Volga. The promissory notes are unsecured and non-interest bearing.

As at 31 December 2008 short-term deposits in banks (Note 34) were denominated in EUR 
(31 December 2007: in RUB). During 2008 the Group recognized foreign currency income in 
the total amount of 266 million RUB as an exchange difference arising from deposits denomi-
nated in the currencies other than RUB.
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2008 2007
Petty cash and cash in stores 148 67
Cash at banks 660 632
Cash in transit 529 1,241
Short-term deposits (Note 34) 4,111 440

ToTal 5,448 2,380

13/ 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

14/ 

Share Capital
Fully paid issued ordinary shares

As at 1 January 2007 the Company had 29,953,645,400 issued ordinary shares with a par value of 0.05 
RUB per share.

As at 29 June 2007 the shareholders of OJSC “Company M.video” approved a reverse share split of 1:200. 
As at 19 September 2007 the Company registered this change with the appropriate governmental agen-
cies and changed the charter and share registry from 29,953,645,400 shares at 0.05 RUB per share to 
149,768,227 shares at 10 RUB per share.

As at 1 November 2007 the Company issued 30,000,000 additional ordinary shares at 10 RUB per share. 
Changes in the charter were not registered until 15 February 2008.

As at 31 December 2008 the Company had 179,768,227 ordinary shares in issue each having par value 
of 10 RUB per share.

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the fair value of cash and cash equivalents is equal to their carrying 
value.

Cash in transit represents cash collected from the Group’s stores and not yet deposited into the bank ac-
count at the year end.

Cash equivalents earn interest ranging from 0.1% to 7%.
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Authorized ordinary shares
As at 1 January 2007 the Company had 30,120,705,400 authorized ordinary shares with a 
par value of 0.05 RUB per share. As part of the reverse share split (as explained above), all pre-
viously authorized shares with a par value of 0.05 RUB per share were withdrawn. Subsequent 
to this, fully paid issued ordinary shares were equal to the number of authorized ordinary 
shares. Authorized ordinary shares were reduced to 149,768,227.

As at 6 September 2007 the shareholders of OJSC “Company M.video” approved an additional 
60,000,000 authorized ordinary shares at 10 RUB per share, of which 30,000,000 were is-
sued and fully in preparation for the initial public offering which was closed on 1 November 
2007. Changes in the charter were registered as at 19 September 2007.

As at 31 December 2008 the Company had 209,768,227 of authorized ordinary shares each 
having par value of 10 RUB per share.

 Dividends

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company during the years ended 31 De-
cember 2008 and 2007. In accordance with the Russian legislation, dividends may only be 
declared to the shareholders of the Company from accumulated undistributed and unreserved 
earnings as shown in the Company’s Russian statutory financial statements. OJSC “Company 
M.video” had 154 million RUB (unaudited) of undistributed and unreserved earnings as at 31 
December 2008 (31 December 2007: 22 million RUB, unaudited).
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The Group’s income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 was as 
follows:

The tax effect on the major temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 is presented below:

15 / 

Income tax

2008 2007

Current tax expense (1,358) (908)
Deferred tax benefit 246 321

ToTal income Tax expense (1,112) (587)

income Tax recognized in equiTy 7 12

2008 2007

deferred tax assets

Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory 301 235
Bonuses allocated to inventories 225 -
Deferred revenue 101 73
Accrued expenses 71 137
Difference in depreciable value of property, plant and equipment 58 37
Salary-related accruals 54 59
Accrual for unused vacation 23 17
Allowance for doubtful debt 22 22
Adjustment on unrealized profit 22 41
Losses due to inventory shortages - 74
Other items 38 28

ToTal 915 723

deferred tax assets

Difference in depreciable value of property, plant and equipment 277 358
Forward exchange contracts 164 -
Adjustment on supplier allowances and other adjustments  
on accounts payable

5 108

Other items - 41

ToTal 446 507
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The statutory tax rate effective in the Russian Federation during years 2008 and 2007 was 
24%. According to Federal Law No. 224-FZ dated 26 November 2008 the changes were made 
to Tax Code of the Russian Federation and corporate profit tax rate was reduced to 20%. As at 
31 December 2008 the Group measured deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets using 
tax rate 20% (2007: 24%), which is the rate expected to be applied in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realized.

The taxation charge for the year is different from that which would be obtained by applying 
the statutory income tax rate to the net income before income tax. Below is a reconciliation of 
theoretical income tax expense at the statutory rate of 24% to the actual expense recorded in 
the Group’s income statement:

Taxable temporary differences in relation to investments in subsidiaries for which deferred 
tax liabilities have not been recognized as at 31 December 2008 amounted to 479 million 
RUB (31 December 2007: 344 million RUB). No liability has been recognised in respect of 
these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not be reversed in the 
foreseeable future.

2008 2007

profit before incoMe tax expense 2,368 1,236

theoretical incoMe tax expense at statutory rate of 24% (568) (296)

adJustMents due to:

Losses due to inventory shortages (280) (82)
Other non-deductible expenses, net (170) (149)

Income tax provisions - (55)

Income tax expense on dividends (9%) - (5)
Reduction in tax rate (from 24% to 20%) (94) -

incoMe tax expense (1,112) (587)
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16/ 

Long-term loans and borrowings

Long-term loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Interest rate Maturity 2008 2007

Secured third parties loan 
from bank (EUR)

11.25% March 2010 2,114 -

Secured third parties loan 
from bank (RUB)

13.75% March 2010 1,000 -

Secured third parties loan 
from banks

2.74% to 4.5% + EURI-
BOR (1m) and (3m)

January – March 
2009

- 2,127

ToTal 3,114 2,127

As at 31 December 2008 the loans and borrowings have been secured by the Group’s inven-
tory (2007: property, plant and equipment and inventory, refer to Notes 6 and 8).

Sberbank
The long-term debt to Sberbank is represented by the loan received in September 2008 de-
nominated in Rubles. The loan matures in March 2010, interest rate is 13.75% (fixed). As of 
31 December 2008 the outstanding balance was 1,000 million RUB. Loan is secured by the 
Group’s inventory for the total amount of 927 million RUB.

The second part of the long-term debt to Sberbank is represented by the loans received in Sep-
tember 2008 denominated in EUR. The loans mature in March 2010, interest rate is 11.25% 
(fixed). 

As at 31 December 2008 the outstanding balance was 2,114 million RUB. Loans are secured 
by the Group’s inventory for the total amount of 1,970 million RUB.
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17/ 

Trade accounts payable

Trade accounts payable as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Trade accounts payable are non-interest bearing and are normally settled between 30 and 90 
days, depending on individual supplier terms.

For terms and conditions relating to related party payables refer to Note 31.

2008 2007

Trade accounts payable to third parties 14,816 9,109
Trade accounts payable to related parties 62 67

ToTal 14,878 9,176



OJSC “Company m.video” and Subsidiaries

M. video
Annual Report 2008

89

18/ 

Other payables and accrued  
expenses

Other payables and accrued expenses as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the 
following:

As at 31 December 2008 the Group has letters of credit payable to Uralsib bank issued by 
order of the Group for the benefit of suppliers of certain parcels of goods. Annual interest rate 
for these liabilities is 1.75%. Letters of credit payable are secured by the Group’s inventory in 
amount of 3,661 million RUB (2007: nil million RUB).

2008 2007

Letters of credit payable 508 -
Accrued salaries and bonuses 311 239
Accrued rent and utilities 120 -
Accrued unused vacation 113 70
Accrued consulting fees 74 -
Accounts payable for property, plant and equipment - 213
Other current liabilities to related parties 32 20
Other payables and accrued expenses 151 58

ToTal 1,309 600
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19/ 

Bonds Payable

20/ 

Value Added Tax and Other  
Taxes Payable

Bonds payable as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

In 2008 the Group settled the remaining amount of RUB denominated non-collateralized 
bonds issued in November 2006 which had the maximum term of 3 years. The bonds had par 
value of 1,000 RUB and the coupon interest rate paid on the bonds fixed at 10% for the first 
year only, after which the Group set a new coupon interest rate. After the setting of the revised 
coupon rate, the bondholders had the option to either retain or redeem bonds held. As at 18 
November 2007 the coupon interest rate was set at 9.5% for a period of 12 months. 

Taxes payable as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

2008 2007

Corporate bonds - 118

2008 2007

Payroll taxes 79 59

VAT payable 13 18

Other taxes payable 46 21

ToTal 138 98
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Interest rate 2008 2007

Secured third parties credit facilities (EUR) 2.74% +EuroLIBOR (3m) 1,624 -

Secured third parties credit facilities (EUR) 3.1% + EURIBOR (1m) 1,242 -
Secured third parties credit facilities (EUR) 9.5% 622 -
Secured third parties credit facilities (USD) 5%+USDLibor (3m) 441 -
Secured third parties credit facilities (USD) 8% to 8.5% - 1,963
Secured third parties credit facilities (EUR) 7.39% to 7.84% - 602

Total principal amount of short-term loans 3,929 2,565

Interest payable 14 -

ToTal 3,943 2,565

21/ 

Short-term Loans and Borrowings

As at 31 December 2008 the loans and borrowings have been secured by the Group’s inven-
tory (2007: property, plant and equipment and inventory, refer to Notes 6 and 8).

MDM Bank

The short-term debt to MDM Bank is mainly represented by short-term portion of the long-
term credit line received in September 2006, denominated in EUR (limit is 39.2 million EUR). 
The loan matures in February-March 2009. Interest rate is 2.74% + EuroLIBOR (3m). As at 31 
December 2008 the outstanding liability was 1,624 million RUB. Credit line is secured by the 
Group’s inventory for the total amount of 1,856 million RUB.

Rosbank
The short-term debt to Rosbank is mainly represented by credit line received in June 2008, 
denominated in EUR (limit is 63 million EUR). The loan matures in February 2009. Interest rate 
is 9.5% (fixed). As at 31 December 2008 the outstanding liability was 622 million RUB. Loans 
are secured by the Group’s inventory for 1,110 million RUB. 

MCB
The short-term debt to MCB is mainly represented by the loans received in April and December 2008, 
denominated in Rubles. The loans mature in January, February, July and December 2009 with inter-
est rates ranging from 5% + USDLibor (3m). As at 31 December 2008 the outstanding liability was 
441 million RUB. Loans are secured by the Group’s inventory for a total amount of 508 million RUB. 

Raiffaisen Bank
The short-term debt to Raiffaisen Bank is mainly represented by a loan received in August 2008, 
denominated in EUR. The loan matures in July 2009, interest rate is 3.1% + EURIBOR (1m). 

As at 31 December 2008 the outstanding liability was 1,242 million RUB. Loans are secured 
by the Group’s inventory for a total amount of 31 million RUB.

Short-term loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:
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22/ 

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Other programs represent primarily sales of gift cards to the Group’s customers.

2008 2007
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As at 1 January - 305 - 73
Revenue deferred during the year 157 392 - 305
Revenue released to the consolidated 
income statement (44) (305) - (73)

ToTal 113 392 - 305
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Non-current Current

2008 2007 2008 2007

Warranty provision – in respect of  
additional service agreements (ASA) (i) 114 65 150 97

Warranty provision – repair of goods (ii) 5 3 10 7

ToTal 119 68 160 104

23/ 

Provisions

Provisions as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

The movement in provisions during the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 is repre-
sented as follows:

(i)  The warranty provision in respect of additional service agreements represents management’s 
best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be required under the Group’s 
2, 3 and 5 year additional service agreements. A Group entity sells the additional service 
agreements directly to customers, however, a back-to-back agreement entered into between 
the Group entity and a related party during the year ended 31 December 2007 transfers the 
obligations under the additional service agreement from the group to the related party. For 
this reason an equal corresponding non-current asset has been recognized by the Group, and 
disclosed within other assets. The estimate has been made on the basis of historical warranty 
trends and may vary as a result of events affecting product quality.

(ii)  The warranty provision in respect of repair of goods represents management’s best estimate 
of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be required to service goods sold for which 
there is no supplier service centre in the Russian Federation.

The amount of 97 million RUB relating to the short-term portion of the warranty provision in re-
spect of additional service agreements as at 31 December 2007, as well as corresponding asset, 
were reclassified from non-current to current assets of the consolidated balance sheet.

Warranty—ASA — Warranty—Repair of goods

Balance as at 1 January 2007 - 10

Additional provisions recognized 162 -

Balance as at 1 January 2008 162 10
Additional provisions recognized 102 5

balance as aT 31 december 2008 264 15
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24/ 

Revenue

Revenue for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Retail revenue includes sales of ASA certificates in the amount of 1, 820 million RUB for year 
2008 (2007 – 801 million RUB).

2008 2007

Retail revenue (including internet) 68,131 48,410

Wholesale revenue 3,350 3,900

Other 5 7

ToTal 71,486 52,317
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25/ 

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Transportation expenses incurred in 2007 with relation to goods delivered from suppliers out-
side the Russian Federation to the Group’s warehouse in Moscow in the amount of 399 million 
RUB were reclassified from selling, general and administrative expenses to cost of sales as part 
of the net cost of merchandise inventory sold (see also Notes 3 and 26).

2008 2007

Cost of goods and services 56,409 41,943

Inventory losses 711 401
Change in allowance for obsolete  
and slow-moving inventory 531 243

Supplier bonuses (4,041) (2,235)

ToTal 53,610 40,352
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26/ 

Selling, general and administrative  
expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 
2007 consisted of the following:

Payroll and related taxes include 532 million RUB contribution to the state pension fund 
(2007: 244 million RUB) and social and medical insurance in the amount of 162 million RUB 
(2007: 218 million RUB).

Transportation expenses incurred in 2007 with relation to goods delivered from suppliers out-
side the Russian Federation to the Group’s warehouse in Moscow in the amount of 399 million 
RUB were reclassified from selling, general and administrative expenses to cost of sales as part 
of the net cost of merchandise inventory sold (see also Notes 3 and 25).

2008 2007

Payroll and related taxes 4,386 3,058
Lease expenses 3,101 1,940
Advertising and promotional expenses 2,462 1,646
Transportation 1,081 732
Warehouse services 1,090 794
Depreciation, amortization and impairment loss 863 523
Security 463 295
Service centre 356 247
Consulting services 346 162
Utilities expense 274 222
Bank charges 267 189
Repairs and maintenance 266 184
Packaging and raw materials 203 153
Travel 167 96
Communication 151 91
Legal and audit expenses 100 24
Bad debt expense 90 53
Other 405 324

ToTal 16,071 10,733
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27/ 

Other operating income

28/ 

Other operating expenses

Other operating income for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 includes commis-
sions received from banks on loans provided to customers, goods delivery, income from leases 
and sub-leases of retail space and other items. Other operating income for the year ended 
31 December 2008 included foreign currency income in the amount of 153 million RUB (31 
December 2007: 47 million RUB).

Other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2008 mainly consisted of  allow-
ance for doubtful loans receivable in the amount of 12 million RUB (31 December 2007: 31 
million RUB) and other individually insignificant items. 

Exchange difference arising from foreign currency borrowings incurred in 2007 in the amount 
of 72 million RUB was reclassified from “Other operating expenses” to “Finance cost, net” (see 
also Notes 2 and 29).
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29/ 

Finance costs, net

Net amount of finance costs for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 consisted of 
the following:

Exchange difference arising from foreign currency borrowings incurred in 2007 in the amount 
of 72 million RUB was reclassified from “Other operating expenses” to “Finance cost, net” (see 
also Notes 2 and 28).

2008 2007

Interest on bank loans 631 505
Coupon yield on corporate bonds 10 171
Exchange difference from foreign currency bor-
rowings

887 72

Interest on non-bank loans - 78
Interest income (226) -
(Gain)/loss on realized forward contracts (148) 53
Change in fair value of forward contracts (789) (31)

ToTal 365 848

30/ 

Share—based payments

Employee share option plan
The Group has an ownership—based compensation scheme for executives and senior employees 
oThe Group has an ownership-based compensation scheme for executives and senior employees 
of the Group. In accordance with the provisions of the plan, as approved by the Board of Directors at 
a Board meeting held on 28 June 2007, 1,498,682 of the Company’s existing ordinary shares were 
set aside by the controlling shareholder. Executives and senior employees (35 persons in total) 
have been granted the right to purchase ordinary shares at an exercise price of 10 RUB per ordinary 
share. Before the options are exercised, dividends are accrued to current shareholders.
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Issued  
1 October 2007 161,500 1 October 2007 1 April 2009 30 April 2009 10 164.67
Issued  
1 October 2007

161,500 1 October 2007 1 April 2010 30 April 2010 10 165.66

Each employee share option allows the recipient to purchase one ordinary share of Open Joint 
Stock Company “Company M.video” from the M.video Investment Ltd. (BVI). The proceeds from the 
purchase is payable to the existing shareholder. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on 
receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Employees must 
be employed at the vesting date to exercise his or her right unless the Board of Directors waives this 
condition. Options may be exercised within 30 days from the date of vesting.

The number of options granted per employee has been determined by the Chief Executive Officer 
and approved by the Board of Directors.

Long-term incentive plan—Series one 
Under the series one of the Company’s long-term incentive plan (LTIP) as at 1 October 2007 35 
persons became members of the plan and 622,500 shares were committed, which represented 
42% of the shares designated for the LTIP. In 2008 prior to the first vesting date (1 April 2008), 
123,000 shares were forfeited. Of the remaining 499,500 granted shares, 166,500 shares which 
vested on 1 April 2008 (tranche one) were exercised. Then, before 31 December 2008 10,000 
more shares were forfeited. Below is the summary of the arrangements that were in existence as at 
31 December 2008:
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Issued  
1 October 2007 207,500 1 October 2007 1 April 2008 30 April 2008 10 163.92
Issued  
1 October 2007 207,500 1 October 2007 1 April 2009 30 April 2009 10 164.67

Issued  
1 October 2007

207,500 1 October 2007 1 April 2010 30 April 2010 10 165.66

As at the end of the comparative reporting period the following share-based payments ar-
rangements under LTIP Series one were in existence:

The weighted average fair value of the share options granted under LTIP Series one as at 31 De-
cember 2008 is 165.17 RUB (2007: 164.75 RUB). Options were priced using the Black Scholes 
pricing model. Where relevant, the model has reflected management’s best estimate of the future 
volatility of the Company’s share price, expected dividend yield, risk-free interest rates and ex-
pected staff turnover. Management draws upon a variety of external sources to aid in the deter-
mination of the appropriate data to use in such situations.

Inputs into the model
LTIP 1 share  

options vested  
on 1 April 2009

LTIP 1 share  
options vested  

on 1 April 2010

Grant date share price, RUB 173.40 173.40
Exercise price, RUB 10 10
Expected volatility 20.68% 20.68%
Option life (years) 1.50 2.50
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 10% 10%
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The expected volatility was determined based on the ending weekly share price for the period 1 
November 2007 (listing date) to 31 December 2007. The expected volatility is equal to the his-
torical volatility due to the brief history of trading activity and lack of comparable industry data.

An expense of 37 million RUB has been recognized during the year ended 31 December 2008 
in respect of share-based payments (31 December 2007: 26 million RUB). This expense re-
lates to equity-settled share-based payments. The expense has been disclosed within selling, 
general and administrative expense in the line item “payroll and related taxes” (Note 26). The 
corresponding entry has been reflected within retained earnings.

Long-term incentive plan – Series two
As at 31 March 2008 the Board of Directors approved the adoption of Series two of the LTIP for 
selected members of the Group’s management team. As at 1 April 2008 46 persons became 
members of the plan and 756,000 of the shares designated for the LTIP were committed. This 
allocation forms part of the initial 1,498,682 of the Company’s existing shares which were set 
aside prior to the Initial Public Offering. Under the terms of Series two of the LTIP, the vesting 
period is three years with 33.33% of the shares to vest each April following the grant date. Par-
ticipants are able to exercise their 33.33% entitlement within 30 days of each vesting period 
by paying 10 RUB per share to the operator of the program after the vesting date. The partici-
pant must be employed at the anniversary date to exercise his or her right unless the Board of 
Directors waives this condition.

Further, before 31 December 2008 99,000 shares of LTIP series two were forfeited.
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Inputs into the model
LTIP 2 share  

options vested  
on 1 April 2009

LTIP 2 share  
options vested  

on 1 April 2010

LTIP 2 share  
options vested  

on 1 April 2011

Grant date share price, RUB 177.45 177.45 177.45
Exercise price, RUB 10 10 10
Expected volatility 26.85% 26.85% 26.85%
Option life years 1 2 3
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 10% 10% 10%

Below is the summary of the arrangements that were in existence as at 31 December 2008:

No share based arrangements under LTIP Series two were in existence during comparative 
reporting period.

The weighted average fair value of the share options granted under LTIP Series two as at 31 De-
cember 2008 was 169.45 RUB. Options were priced using the Black-Scholes pricing model.
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Issued  
1 April 2008 219,000 1 April 2008 1 April 2009 30 April 2009 10 168.28
Issued  
1 April 2008 219,000 1 April 2008 1 April 2010 30 April 2010 10 169.69

Issued  
1 April 2008

219,000 1 April 2008 1 April 2011 30 April 2011 10 170.39

The expected volatility was determined based on the ending weekly share price for the period 1 
November 2007 (listing date) to 1 April 2008. The expected volatility is equal to the historical 
volatility due to the brief history of trading activity and lack of comparable industry data.

An expense of 50 million RUB has been recognized during the year ended 31 December 2008 in 
respect of share-based payments under the Company’s LTIP Series two (2007: nil). This expense 
relates to equity-settled share-based payments and has been included into selling, general and 
administrative expense in the line item “payroll and related taxes” (Note 26).
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The services received in respect of the share-based payments discussed above do not qualify for 
recognition as assets.

The equity settled share-based payments made during the year did not result in a dilution of 
shares due to reasons outlined above.

 Balance at the end of the financial year
The share options outstanding at the end of the financial year 2008 have an exercise price of 10 
RUB (2007: 10 RUB), and the weighted average remaining contractual life is 396 days (2007: 
486 days).

The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the employee share plan 
at the beginning and end of the financial year 2008:

LTIP Series 1 LTIP Series 2
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Balance as at 1 January 2007 - - - -
Granted during the period 622,500 10 - -
Balance as at 31 December 2007 622,500 10 - -
Balance as at 1 January 2008 622,500 10 - -
Granted during the period - - 756,000 10
Forfeited during the period (133,000) 10 (99,000) 10
Exercised during the period (166,500) 10 - -
Expired during the period - - - -
Balance as at 31 December 2008 323,000 10 657,000 10
Exercisable at the end  
of the financial year

- - - -
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Related parties include shareholders, key management, entities under common ownership 
and control, and entities over which the Group has significant influence.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of OJSC “Company 
M.video” and its subsidiaries which are listed in Note 1. Intra-group balances and transactions 
are not presented for purposes of this disclosure.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into 
with related parties for the relevant financial year (for information regarding outstanding bal-
ances as at 31 December 2008 and 2007, also refer to Notes 10, 17, 18):
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entities under coMMon control
LLC “Noviy Format” - 404 - 20 - 25 - -
LLC “Universal service” - 366 - 29 - 91 - 67
Transservice Group of Companies, LLC 
“Technovideo Service”, LLC “Transser-
vice-95”

28 268 50 3 21 195 28 -

LLC “Avto-Express” - 144 - 7 - 125 - 10
LLC “Private Security Agency Bars-SB” 2 134 4 - 1 100 3 -
LLC “Avtoritet” 1 52 - 3 - 36 - -
LLC “Bars” - 11 - - - 15 - -
LLC “Company Profi Center” - 7 - - - - - -
LLC “MV. Stil” 1 - - - - - - -
LLC “PSK Logistic Service” - - - - - 1,379 - 10
LLC “Olga-Alternativa” - - - - - 12 - -
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entities under coMMon control

Goodhall Ltd - - - - - 45 - -
Velga Ltd - - - - - 33 - -
LLC “Noviy Format” - - - - 2 - - -

The ultimate shareholder
M.video Investment Ltd. (BVI) is the ultimate shareholder of the Group.

There were no transactions between the Group and the ultimate parent during the year ended 
31 December 2008.

Immediate parent entity
Svece Ltd owns 69.9626% of the ordinary shares of OJSC “Company M.video” as at 31 De-
cember 2008 and 2007.

Refer to Note 1 for additional information on the ultimate controlling party of the Group and  
the share-based payment transactions involving the immediate parent entity.
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Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Related parties may enter into transactions, which unrelated parties might not, and transactions 
between related parties may not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as 
transactions between unrelated parties. Outstanding balances at the year end are unsecured 
and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any re-
lated party accounts receivable or payables. For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group 
has not recorded any impairment of accounts receivable relating to amounts owed by related 
parties (2007: nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the 
financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Transactions with other related parties
The nature of transactions with related parties is as follows:

  LLC “Olga Alternativa” – for the period ended 31 December 2007 the transaction related to 
the purchase of leasehold improvements;

  LLC “Bars” – provided courier services to the Group;

  LLC “Private Security Agency Bars – SB” – provided store and head office security services;

  LLC “Noviy Format” – for the period ended 31 December 2007 the transaction related to 
rental of property; for the period ended 31 December 2008 the transaction related to pur-
chase of the buildings;

  Transservice Group of Companies – provided after sale and other servicing of the Group’s 
merchandise;

  LLC “Avtoritet” – provided the brand name “Smart-on” to the Group under a license agree-
ment and two trading premises in Moscow under a lease agreement;

  LLC “Avto-Express” – provided a car leasing service to the Group and logistic services;

  LLC “PSK Logistics service” – is a merchanize supplier for the Group;

  LLC “Universal Service” – provided after sale servicing and other related servicing of merchan-
dize sold in connection with additional service agreements;

  LLC “Company Profi Center” – provided servicing of inventories;

  LLC “MV. Stil” – provided rent services;

  Goodhall Ltd – provided financing to the Group;

  Velga Ltd – provided financing to the Group.
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Compensation of key management  
personnel of the Group

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as 
follows:

As at 31 December 2008 payable to key management personnel amounted 32 million RUB 
(2007 – nil).

The number of key management positions increased from 15 in 2007 to 16 in 2008 due to 
appointment of one independent director.

The Group did not provide any post employment, termination, or other long-term benefits to 
key management personnel during the period other than contributions to state pension fund 
and the social funds as a part of payments of unified social tax on salaries and bonuses. Uni-
fied social tax paid relating to compensation of key management personnel amounted to 4 
million RUB and 3 million RUB respectively for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 
and is included in the amounts stated above.

2008 2007

Short-term benefits* 143 116
Share-based payments 35 13

ToTal 178 129

*Short term benefits include salaries, bonuses, annual leave, medical and insurance expenses.
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2008 2007

Minimum lease payments 3,101 1,930
Contingent rentals - 10

3,101 1,940

2008 2007

Within one year 3,471 2,320
After one year but not more than five years 12,608 7,212
More than five years 5,467 5,751

21,546 15,283

2008 2007

Within one year 470 439
After one year but not more than five years 1,409 1,998
More than five years 2,354 2,527

4,233 4,964

The Group has entered into commercial leases for the rental of retail properties, warehouses 
and office space. These leases have terms ranging between 1 and 14 years. The majority of 
the lease contracts contain escalation clauses. Certain lease contracts stipulate terms requir-
ing the Group to pay the higher of minimum lease payments or a percentage of revenue. The 
amounts paid in excess of the minimum lease payments are disclosed as contingent rentals 
below. The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased premises at the expiration 
of the lease period.

Payments recognized as an expense

Future minimum rentals payable under committed, non-cancelable future store operating 
leases for premises as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Future minimum rental payments will be subject to value added tax.

Non—cancellable operating lease commitments
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancelable operating leases for premises occu-
pied as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

32/ 

Operating lease arrangements
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Operating environment
The Group sells products that are more sensitive to changes in general economic conditions 
that impact consumer spending. Future economic conditions and other factors, including con-
sumer confidence, employment levels, interest rates, consumer debt levels and availability of 
consumer credit could reduce consumer spending or change consumer purchasing habits. A 
general slowdown in the Russian economy or in the global economy, or an uncertain economic 
outlook, could adversely affect consumer spending habits and the Group’s operating results.

The Russian economy is vulnerable to market downturns and economic slowdowns elsewhere in the 
world. The ongoing global financial crisis has resulted in capital markets instability, significant deterio-
ration of liquidity in the banking sector, and tighter credit conditions within Russia. While the Russian 
Government has introduced a range of stabilization measures aimed at providing liquidity and sup-
porting refinancing of foreign debt for Russian banks and companies, there continues to be uncertainty 
regarding the access to capital and cost of capital for the Group and its counterparties, which could 
affect the Group’s financial position, results of operations and business prospects. Although any fur-
ther deterioration in the areas described above could negatively affect the Group’s results and financial 
position in a manner not currently determinable, the management believes it is taking appropriate 
measures to support the sustainability of the Group’s business in the current circumstances.

Taxation and regulatory environment
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to frequent changes and varying interpre-
tations. Management’s interpretation of such legislation in applying it to business transactions 
of the Group may be challenged by the relevant authorities enabled by law to impose fines and 
penalties. Recent events within the Russian Federation suggest that the tax, customs or other rel-
evant government authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the 
legislation and assessments made and as a result, it is possible that the transactions that have not 
been challenged in the past may be challenged in the future. Generally, fiscal periods remain open 
to review by the tax authorities in respect of taxes for the three calendar years preceding the year 
of tax review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. The Group believes it 
has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation.

33/ 

Commitments and contingencies
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 Management reviews the Group’s compliance with applicable tax regulations and current inter-
pretations. Furthermore, management regularly assesses the potential financial exposure relating 
to tax contingencies for which the three year tax inspection right has expired but, which, under 
certain circumstances, may be challenged by regulatory bodies. From time to time potential expo-
sures and contingencies are identified and at any point in time a number of such open tax positions 
may exist. As at 31 December 2007 the management has recorded a provision of 87 million RUB 
for income tax and 7 million RUB for other tax contingencies in these consolidated financial state-
ments. During 2008 the Group has not made any changes to its provisions and has not identified 
any other material contingencies which have not been in existence as at the end of the previous 
annual period. No tax provisions were utilized during the year ended 31 December 2008.

Russian transfer pricing legislation introduced on 1 January 1999 provides the possibility for tax 
authorities to make transfer pricing adjustments and impose additional tax liabilities in respect of 
all controllable transactions, provided that the transaction price differs from the market price by 
more than 20%. Controllable transactions include transactions with interdependent parties, as 
determined under the Russian Tax Code, and all cross-border transactions (irrespective of whether 
performed between related or unrelated parties), transactions where the price applied by a taxpay-
er differs by more than 20% from the price applied for similar transactions by the same taxpayer 
within a short period of time, and barter transactions. There is no formal guidance as to how these 
rules should be applied in practice. The arbitration court practice in this respect is contradictory.

Tax liabilities from inter-company transactions are determined using actual transaction prices. 

It is possible with the evolution of the interpretation of the transfer pricing rules in the Russian 
Federation and the changes in the approach of the Russian tax authorities, that such transfer 
prices could potentially be challenged in the future. Given the brief nature of the current Rus-
sian transfer pricing rules, the impact of such challenge cannot be reliably estimated, however, 
it may be significant to the financial condition and operations of the Group.

The Group has identified other possible tax contingencies in respect of issues unrelated to 
customs (see below) or transfer pricing. No provision has been recorded in respect of these 
issues. The range of potential exposures and details of individual tax positions have not been 
disclosed to avoid prejudicing the Group’s position.
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Customs
As is common in the business, the Group or an affiliated party negotiates and confirms with 
overseas representatives of foreign manufacturers, the quantity, price and attributes of the 
foreign manufactured goods, but the goods may be procured through parties both affiliated 
and unaffiliated with the Group.

Subject to the above, during the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group purchased a signifi-
cant portion of its foreign manufactured goods on the territory of the Russian Federation from 
Russian legal entities, including Russian wholesalers or resellers, which may or may not have 
imported the goods into Russia directly. As the Group was not involved in clearing customs for 
the goods purchased on the territory of Russia, management can not be certain that the entities 
which imported the goods into Russia were in full compliance with the applicable regulations of 
the Russian customs code. During the year the relative proportion of direct imports from foreign 
manufacturers and purchases from the Russian subsidiaries of foreign manufacturers have been 
increasing and the purchases from Russian wholesalers and resellers decreasing.

As described above in Taxation and regulatory environment section, the relevant authorities are tak-
ing a more assertive position in their interpretation of the applicable laws. Under Russian law a 
company in possession of goods that were imported with proven violations of the customs law 
may be subject to significant administrative or civil penalties and/or confiscation of the goods, if it 
was involved in, aware of, or should have known that violation of the customs code were occurring. 
To date, the Group has not been subject to any notification of violations of the customs code.

Management believes that the Group entities were acting in compliance with all applicable 
tax and legal requirements in respect of imported products, were not involved, not aware and 
could not be expected to know of any significant violations of the applicable customs code by 
the Russian wholesalers or resellers. Accordingly, management did not recognize any provi-
sions in respect of such contingencies in these consolidated IFRS financial statements and de-
termined that with current limitations in access to customs clearance documents it is not prac-
ticable to estimate the likely potential financial effect, if any, of such contingent liabilities.
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License Agreements
As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a total commitment of approximately 1 million EUR 
per annum for technical support services with respect to existing SAP licenses and software. 
The Group uses SAP software for finance and human resources.

Further, as at 31 December 2008, the Group had finished the second year of a five year contract with 
Microsoft for Microsoft Office software right. The contract is structured in a way that allows the Group 
to prepay one year at a time. The total commitment for the remainder of the contract, including li-
cense fees and annual support, is 35 million RUB. The total commitment is split as follows:

Litigation
In the normal course of business, the Group is subject to proceedings, lawsuits, and other claims. 
While such matters are subject to other uncertainties, and outcomes are not predictable with 
assurance, the management of the Group believes that any financial impact arising from these 
matters would not be material to its financial position or annual operating results.

Environmental matters
The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement 
posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates its 
obligations under environmental obligations. In the current enforcement climate under existing legisla-
tion, management believes that there are no significant liabilities for environmental matters.

Guarantees
The Group had no outstanding guarantees issued by the Group entities or other parties for the 
benefit of the Group entities as at 31 December 2008 and 2007.

2009 FY 17.5 million RUB;
2010 FY 17.5 million RUB.
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The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrow-
ings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance 
for the Group’s operations. The Group has trade and other receivables and cash and short-
term deposits that arrive directly from its operations. The Group also enters into derivative 
transactions.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s senior management oversees the management of these risks. The Group’s senior 
management provides assurance to the Group’s Board of Directors that the Group’s financial 
risk-taking activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial 
risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies. All deriva-
tive activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the 
appropriate skills, experience and supervision.

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are 
summarized below.

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as 
a going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the 
debt and equity balance. No changes were made in objectives, policies or processes during the 
year ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes borrowings (Notes 16 and 
20), cash and cash equivalents (Note 13), short-term investments (Note 12) and equity at-
tributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, additional paid in capital 
and retained earnings.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management program is to maximize shareholder 
value while minimizing the risks associated with the loan portfolio. The consumer electron-
ics business is a cyclical business and as such requires short term fluctuations in capital to 
purchase goods to satisfy the seasonal demand. The Group uses a combination of long-term 
loans, short term loans and supplier credit terms to meet the seasonal capital needs. The store 
expansion program adds to the capital needs as the capital and pre-opening costs associated 
with the new stores puts additional pressure on the Group’s financial resources. While the 
Group has not established any formal policies regarding debt to equity proportions the Group 
reviews the capital needs of the Group periodically to determine actions to balance its overall 
capital structure through shareholders’ capital contributions or new share issues, return of 
capital to shareholders as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

34/ 

Financial risk management  
objectives and policies
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2008 2007

financial assets
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 821 32

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 7,424 4,239

financial liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - 16
Liabilities carried at amortized cost 23,244 14,586

Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are rec-
ognized, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

 

Categories of financial instruments
The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities grouped by each category of financial 
instruments were as follows:

Foreign currency risk management
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has transactional cur-
rency exposures. Such exposures arise from: (1) purchases by an operating unit with delayed 
credit terms in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. The Group does not attempt 
to hedge this risk, as individually these amounts are too small to warrant hedges and the pay-
ment dates are too frequent to attempt to do a collective hedge; (2) long-term loans which are 
denominated in Euros. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to eliminate the currency 
exposures on loan repayments. The forward exchange contracts must be in the same currency 
as the foreign currency item. The Group does not designate forward contracts as hedges for 
accounting purposes.

The Group does not have transactional currency exposure relating to revenue as sales occur on 
the territory of the Russian Federation and are denominated in RUB.
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Liabilities Assets

2008 2007 2008 2007

USD 885 2,810 1,798 43
EUR 6,589 3,899 4,456 48

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currencies of the United States of America (USD) and the 
European zone (EUR).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible changes in the US 
dollar and euro, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax due 
to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. Effect on profit includes the 
result of changes in the fair value of forward contracts. Although the derivatives have not 
been designated in a hedge relationship, they act as a commercial hedge for certain foreign 
currency borrowing transactions and will produce offsetting gains or losses on settlement.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies which goes in line with exchange rate variations (including the Group’s for-
ward contracts carried at fair value) at the reporting date are as follows:

USD EUR

Changes  
in exchange 

rate, %

Effect on income 
before income 

tax

Changes  
in exchange  

rate, %

Effect on income 
before income 

tax

2008
+20% 127 +20% 151

-20% (127) -20% (151)

2007
+10% (274) +5% (195)

-10% 274 -5% 195
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Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of 
changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term obligations with 
floating interest rates. The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio 
of fixed and variable interest rate loans and borrowings.

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instru-
ments that are exposed to interest rate risk:
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2.74% + EuroLIBOR (3m) 1,624 - - 1,624
5% + USD LIBOR (3m) 441 - - 441
EURIBOR (1m) + 3.1% 1,242 - - 1,242

ToTal 3,307 - - 3,307

31 deceMber 2008

Forward foreign exchange contracts 
The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding at the reporting date:

Foreign currency Contract value Fair value

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Buy EUR 218 74 8,103 2,643 1,425 48

Sell EUR 140 - 5,216 - (698) -

Buy USD 15 80 364 2,015 94 (32)
Sell USD 22 - 643 - - -
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Increase / decrease  
in basis points

Profit/loss before 
tax

2008 changes in the floating interest rates

25 8
50 17

100 33

2007 changes in the floating interest rates

25 5
50 11

100 21

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations re-
sulting in financial loss to the Group. Financial assets which are potentially subject the Group 
to credit risk consist primarily of trade and other receivables as well as cash in current and 
deposit accounts with banks and other financial institutions.

The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties who are registered in the 
Russian Federation. The policy is that all customers who are granted credit terms have a his-
tory of purchases from the Group, employ individuals who are known to the Group and can 
demonstrate they have the financial resources to cover their limits. The Group also requires 
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EURIBOR (1m), (3m)+ 2.74% to 4.5%, 7.39% to 9.5% Secured 
bank loans 2,683 2,127 - 4,810

ToTal 2,683 2,127 - 4,810

31 deceMber 2007

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates of the Group’s profit before tax. The analysis below has been determined based on the 
exposure to interest rates for the Group’s financial instruments at the balance sheet date as-
suming that year end debt levels are constant over the year.
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The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the consolidated financial statements, 
which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

As at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007 the Group does not have financial guaran-
tees provided on behalf of other entities. There were no other concentrations of credit risk as 
at 31 December 2008.

Liquidity risk management
The Group’s treasury monitors the risk of a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity plan-
ning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets 
(e.g. accounts receivable, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations.

these customers to provide certain documents such as incorporation documents and financial 
statements.

Trade accounts receivable consist of a large number of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is 
performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any 
single counterparty in respect of trade accounts receivable. Concentration of credit risk in re-
spect of trade accounts receivable did not exceed 5% of gross monetary assets at any time 
during the year.

The credit risk on liquid funds (see the table below) and derivative financial instruments is 
managed by Group treasury. The management believes that credit risk on investments of sur-
plus funds is limited because counterparties are financial institutions with high credit ratings 
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

 The table below shows the balances of 6 major counterparties as at the balance sheet date:

Currency Currency Rating
Carrying amount

2008 2007

Gazprombank EUR, USD, RUB BBB- 3,994 201
Uralsib EUR BB- 1,300 1,290
Moscow Commercial 
Bank

USD BBB- 441 -

Renaissance Capital RUB BB- - 102
Russian Standard Bank RUB BB- - 57
Alfa Bank RUB BB- - 52
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The Group’s objective is to maintain a continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of 
bank overdrafts and bank loans. Each year the Group analyzes its funding needs and anticipat-
ed cash flows, so that it can determine its funding obligations. The seasonality of the business, 
the store expansion plan and the anticipated working capital requirements form the basis 
of the evaluation. The Group uses long-term instruments (loans and borrowings) to cover a 
significant proportion of the base liquidity needs. The Group uses short-term loans and bank 
overdrafts to cover seasonality needs. Every quarter the Group updates its liquidity needs and 
secures facilities with several banks to ensure that the Group has a sufficient amount of ap-
proved undrawn borrowing facilities. As at 31 December 2008, the Group had available 9,833 
million RUB (31 December 2007: 11,178 million RUB) of uncommitted standby borrowing 
facilities. The Group can formally apply for additional tranches of debt and the bank will pro-
vide additional funding provided all conditions precedent had been met. Approximately 56% 
of the Group’s debt will mature in more than one year from 31 December 2008 (31 December 
2007 – 47%).

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 
December 2008 and 2007 based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Less than 
3 months

3—12 
months

1—5 
years Total

31 deceMber 2007

Interest bearing loans and borrowings - 2,829 2,311 5,140
Trade accounts payable 9,176 - - 9,176
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 599 1 - 600
Forward exchange contract 16 - - 16

ToTal 9,791 2,830 2,311 14,932

Less than 
3 months

3—12 
months

1—5 
years Total

31 deceMber 2008

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2,729 1,283 3,565 7,577
Trade accounts payable 14,878 - - 14,878
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,309 - - 1,309
Forward exchange contract - - - -

ToTal 18,916 1,283 3,565 23,764
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Carrying amount Fair value

2008 2007 2008 2007

financial assets
Cash and short-term deposits 7,072 3,685 7,072 3,685
Long-term loans and notes receivable 5 5 5 5
Forward contracts 821 32 821 32
Trade accounts receivable 138 76 138 76
Other accounts receivable 209 474 209 474

financial liabiliTies

Interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings:

Floating rate borrowings (3,308) (2,127) (3,306) (2,083)
Fixed rate borrowings (3,749) (2,683) (3,749) (2,683)
Forward contracts - (16) - (16)
Trade payables (14,878) (9,176) (14,878) (9,176)

oTher payables (1,309) (600) (1,309) (600)

Fair value of financial instruments
Set out below is a comparison by class of the amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial 
instruments that are carried in the consolidated financial statements:

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the 
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than 
forced or liquidating sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the 
fair values:

  Cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables approx-
imate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments;

  Long-term loans and notes receivable are evaluated by the Group based on parameters such 
as interest rate, specific risk factors and individual creditworthiness of the counteragent. 
Based on this evaluation allowances are taken into account for the expected losses of these 
receivables. As at 31 December 2008 and 2007, the carrying amounts of such receivables, 
net of allowances, approximate their fair values;

  The fair value of borrowings such as bank loans and other financial indebtedness are es-
timated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently available for debt of similar 
terms and remaining maturities;

  The fair value of forward foreign currency exchange contracts is based on forward exchange 
rates.
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